
Damian Allen
Chief Executive

Issued on: Wednesday, 27 November 2019

Governance Services Officer for this meeting Caroline Martin
Senior Governance Officer
01302 734941

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda
____________________________________________________________________
To all Members of the

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
PANEL
Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Panel is to be held as follows:

 
Venue:   Council Chamber - Civic Office 

Date:      Thursday, 5th December, 2019

Time:     4.30 pm
____________________________________________________________________
BROADCASTING NOTICE This meeting is being filmed for subsequent 
broadcast via the Council’s site. The Council is a Data Controller under the Data 
Protection Act and images collected during this recording will be retained in 
accordance with the Council’s published policy. Please be aware that by 
entering the Council Chamber, you accept that you may be filmed and the 
images used for the purposes set out above.

Items for Discussion:

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest, if any. 

Public Document Pack



4. Minutes of the meeting of the Children and Young People Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel held on 5th September, 2019 (Pages 1 - 8)

5. Public Statements 
(A period not exceeding 20 minutes for statements from up to 5 
members of the public on matters within the Panel’s remit, proposing 
action(s) which may be considered or contribute towards the future 
development of the Panel’s work programme).

A.     Items where the Public and Press may not be excluded 

6. Doncaster's Children's Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2018-2019 
(Pages 9 - 48)

7. Future Placements Strategy for Children (Report to Follow)

8. Youth Update (Pages 49 - 58)

9. Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan and the Council's Forward Plan of 
Key Decisions (Pages 59 - 74)

MEMBERSHIP OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

Chair – Councillor Neil Gethin
Vice-Chair – Councillor Lani-Mae Ball

Councillors Nick Allen, Jane Cox, George Derx, Susan Durant, Tina Reid, 
Frank Tyas and Sue Wilkinson

Invitees:

Jim Board (UNISON)

Education Co-optees*

John Hoare
Bernadette Nesbit

*Education Co-optees are invited to attend the meeting and vote on any Education 
functions which are the responsibility of the Authority’s Executive. They may also 
participate in but not vote on other issues relating to Children and Young People.



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

THURSDAY, 5TH SEPTEMBER, 2019

A MEETING of the CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL was held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER - CIVIC OFFICE, 
DONCASTER on THURSDAY, 5TH SEPTEMBER, 2019 at 4.30 PM

PRESENT:

Chair - Councillor Neil Gethin
Vice Chair - Councillor Lani-Mae Ball, Nick Allen, Jane Cox, Susan Durant, 
Sean Gibbons, Frank Tyas and Sue Wilkinson

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:

Dawn Lawrence - Early Help Pathway Manager
Paul Ruane – Head of Education
Lee Golze - Head of Business Transformation and Strategic Commissioning
Leanne Hornsby - Assistant Director, Commissioning and Business Development
Martyn Owen - Head of Service Inclusion
Rebecca Mason, Head of Partnerships and Engagement
Young Advisors 

ACTION
9.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were made by Councillosr Lani-Mae Ball, and 
Nikki McDonald, the Panel’s co-optee, John Hoare and invitee, Jim 
Board.

10.  TO CONSIDER THE EXTENT, IF ANY, TO WHICH THE PUBLIC AND 
PRESS ARE TO BE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING. 

None

11.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY. 

Declarations of interest were made by Councillor Jane Cox by virtue of 
working for NHS which involves child protection medicals and adoption 
and Looked After Children medicals.

12.  PUBLIC STATEMENTS 

There were no public statements made.

13.  DEMAND MANAGEMENT - LOCAL SOLUTIONS 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4.



The Panel received a report on the prototype Local Solutions Model for 
accessing Early Help in the Community. The report set out the model, 
functions and partnership approach in addressing needs at the earliest 
opportunity through a strength-based practice. 

It was explained that the prototype was established following findings 
from the report “Reducing Demand at the Front Door to Social Care by 
the Innovation Unit, December 2018”, which outlined the need for Early 
Help to be rooted in place, community-led and strengths based.

Members were provided with a presentation that included;
 
1. Where are we at – Local Solutions Group
2. The right thing to do/the time is right
3. Impact
4. Case study
5. What is needed to be done

There was a discussion held and the following issues were raised;

Front Door – Comments were made about the lack of understanding 
as to what support was available.  It was explained that staff based at 
the first point of call were all trained individuals.  It was continued that 
after the initial call, presentation would be made to the Local Solutions 
group by the family or practitioner on their behalf.  Members were 
advised that solutions for that family was found through undertaking a 
multi-agency response.

Concern was raised that with each individual place working separately, 
those in need of support might slip through.  It was explained that there 
were 88 communities across Doncaster and once the prototype was 
evaluated it would be then considered how it could be rolled across 
Doncaster.  It was stressed that it was about making the approach part 
of the ‘day job’ rather than creating something new and additional.  It 
was clarified that everyone across the Borough should have the same 
access to the same opportunities regardless of where they lived.

It was explained that the model had only been in operation since mid-
July 2019 with minimal Councillor involvement, however, meetings 
would soon be taking place with Ward Councillors to explain how the 
model would operate and be developed from its grass roots.

It was explained that the work focused on two local areas (Denaby and 
Hexthorpe to develop ideas through working together.  It was explained 
that the reason for selecting Hexthorpe and Denaby was due to the 
number of social care referrals made in those areas and because the 
communities were of a similar make-up. 

Officers provided assurances that they were aware of the 

Page 2



infrastructures and support organisations in place operating in both 
Denaby and Hexthorpe such as Well Denaby and Garage 32.  
Reference was also made to the Denaby Foodbank (satellite of the 
Mexborough Foodback) which was being launched in the Community 
Library later in the year and Food Aware in the Denaby Family Hub.

Members were informed that there was now confidence in the model 
with no foreseen issues that would create barriers.

The Assistant Director for Commissioning and Business Development, 
stressed that although facts and figures were important and presented 
a positive picture, it was as important to recognise what it actually 
looked like on the ground and this would include looking at the depth of 
developments taking place across partnership level. It was explained 
that in order to make this approach part of the “day job”, partners 
needed to be systematically engaged with in a consistent manner.

Members were informed that time was needed to measure the impact 
and gather softer information with less focus on the harder data.  It was 
explained that softer information could consider the impact made on 
families who had accessed the support.  Members commented that 
measuring the impact in this way could prove more difficult in practice.  
It was recognised that if the approach was more practice driven then 
more work could be undertaken with a larger number of families in a 
different way.  

In terms of the timeline, it was explained that there would be an 
evaluation at the end of March 2020 followed by a 6-month period to 
gather information and outcomes.  It was added that the new approach 
would then be rolled out to all Central and South areas to be tested 
again before being progressed out to the North and East areas. 

Clarification was sort around the cost of staff resources once the new 
prototype had been fully rolled out.  The Panel heard that two staff 
members had been released for 8 hours a week as part of the work 
undertaken in Denaby and Hexthorpe.  It was added that further work 
was being undertaken around resources, commitment and capacity.  It 
was recognised that the impact as a result of the work undertaken 
could be significant in comparison and would be measured where 
possible.

RESOLVED that the Panel note the information provided and support 
the following aspirations to drive this approach forward; 

• That Councillors, officers and partners, champion the new 
approach in their organisation and across the system 

• That decisions are delegated about the where and what next to 
the Engine room.

• That efforts are taken to ensure that the approach links into 
other transformation agendas which are working to achieve the 

Page 3



same outcomes
• That each leader support the release of staff to enable this to 

happen and evaluate who can help to drive it.

14.  DONCASTER EDUCATION ATTAINMENT SUMMARY 2019 

The Doncaster Education Attainment Summary 2019 report provided 
an update for review by the Panel in relation to provisional data and 
early indications of achievement and improvement across the following 
education phases:

• Early Years
• Year 1 Phonics Screening Check
• Key Stage 1
• Key Stage 2
• Key Stage 4 (GCSE)
• Key Stage 5 ( A Level)

It was explained that the data contained in the report was provisional 
and represented early indications (and was therefore subject to 
change). It was continued that formal and final validated data would be 
released by DFE later in the autumn term and will be presented to the 
Panel at that time. 

The Head of Education provided the Panel with highlights from the 
results.  Members complimented the results and the significant 
improvement made and commented that a clearer explanation of the 
acronyms presented in the report in future would be helpful.  

Reporting of Results - A Member raised concern about how partial 
other data sets reported through the media in isolation and out of 
context could have a negative impact on what is a very positive set of 
results across all key stages. results when reported through the media.  
It was felt that positive results should be promoted accordingly in a 
constructive manner.  Officers commented that more positive reports 
were now being made through the media which was viewed as a step 
forward.

Pupil Premiums – Concern was raised about the differences between 
those children that were on pupil premiums and those children who 
were not.  it was detailed that for those children in receipt of pupil 
premium, 48% of pupils achieved the combined measure compared 
with 50% of pupil premium children nationally indicating that it was a 
national issue (whereas the figure for non-pupil premium children at 
KS1 was in line with the national figure at 69%). Members were 
assured the Council was aware of this and that the achievement and 
progress of pupil premium children and other disadvantaged and 
vulnerable groups remained a priority in line with the Doncaster 
Opportunity Area, Priority 1.  It was noted that some schools in 
disadvantaged areas were addressing this issue very well.

Page 4



It was clarified that there wasere more than one data set which formed 
the criteria for Pupil Premiums (such as Free School Meals, Sports 
Premiums, Looked After Children and other data sets). Members were 
reassured that any data that had been released would not have 
involved fully validated data and a more comprehensive response 
would be possible once that validated data had been released.

Final Validated Data – The Assistant Director, Commissioning and 
Business Development explained that a more detailed report would be 
shared with Members later in the calendar year once the validated data 
was made available. This report would focus specifically on 
achievement for vulnerable and disadvantaged groups, and included 
those children in receipt of Pupil Premium. 

Future Priorities - In terms of future priorities, it was explained that 
there was a support, development  and challenge process within 
individuals schools and that relevant tiers associated would be broken 
down by;

• overall borough;
• by ward;
• multi-academy trusts; and 
• individual schools.

It was outlined that the level of challenge to senior leadership level was 
equally mirrored down the support system. It was noted that the team 
within the Council had the responsibility for of thea case management 
of schools, by area.  In terms of the broader strategic picture, it was 
explained that the challenge element was part of a much broader 
footprint than school learning standards and effectiveness, for 
example, Special Educational Needs Support, Education Psychology 
and the wider inclusion agenda.  It was concluded that it was about 
having a single point of contact for individual schools for a ward of 
schools for individualand Multi-Academy Trusts mats  so to be able to 
tailor that support accordingly.

Reading – It was reported that reading remained a priority and that 
outcomes at Key Stage 1 were now in line with the national results for 
the combined measure of Reading, Writing and Maths but remained 
below in reading.  It was noted that reading, particularly early reading 
development, remained a priority at Y1 and Y2 with support being 
provided through continued strategic interventions.

It was outlined that Officers were analysing results with the intention to 
share good practice.  It was added there was the aspiration to improve 
the results through specific training events being held in schools where 
results had reduced.  Members were provided with assurances that key 
messages (emerging from the new Ofsted framework) were being put 
forward about the importance of early reading and phonics.  It was 

Assistant 
Director, 
Commission
ing and 
Business 
Developme
nt

Page 5



acknowledged that Maths had shown a significant improvement.

Gradings - Clarification were provided on GCSE grading’s presented 
in the report and it was explained they took account of average 
attainment point scores and had been compared with the results from 
2018.  In respect of ‘A’ Levels, It was reported that information was 
available which would show what was available through the new and 
existing processes and what it would look like in terms of previous 
current grades and points. 

The Assistant Director, Commissioning and Business Development 
offered to send out more detailed breakdown of current position for 
GCSE results/grades for schools showing change to previous years, 
which would include an explanation and comparison to previous 
grading systems.  

A Young Adviser commented how positive the GCSE results were and 
added that it would be helpful to have sight of what room there was for 
improvement within in each bullet point.  It was noted that this 
information would be provided within the validated data to be provided 
later in the year.

Schools Performance - In terms of schools performance, it was noted 
that 12 out of 18 done better, meaning that 6 were static or had not 
performed as not as well as they could have done.  It was questioned 
what was being done with those schools whether there were any 
correlation with academies that were not doing so well and could any 
conclusions be drawn, for example, was there any correlation to 
persistent absenteeism or exclusions.

It was felt that there was some correlation between Doncaster’s most 
inclusive/least excluded schools and the greater leaps with attainment 
in Key Stage 4 figures.  It was supported that the link between 
persistent absenteeism and outcomes was there, although there was a 
mixed picture with some schools who had achieved the best outcomes 
as well as also improvements in attendance  

RESOLVED that the Panel note;

• The indicative provisional improvements to date where available.
• The work of school leaders, teachers and schools and the wider 

school
• improvement system, including:
• The review and development of the learning standards and 

effectiveness provision.
• The commissioning of Partners in Learning.
• Greater collaboration across the system with and between 

schools, leading to greater capacity for support across the 
phases.

• The further development of the school improvement system of 

Assistant 
Director, 
Commission
ing and 
Business 
Developme
nt

Page 6



support and challenge, enabling specific provision to be targeted 
at schools requiring further development.

15.  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
WORKPLAN UPDATE - SEPTEMBER 2019 

The Panel received a report updating Members on the Panels work 
plan for 2019/20.
 
A copy of the work plan was attached at Appendix A of the report 
taking account of issues agreed by OSMC at its meeting on the 27th 
June 2019.

There was also a brief discussion around the Forward Plan.

Concern was raised regarding the number of items for the 5th 
December 2019 meeting.  It was proposed that consideration would be 
given to holding an extraordinary meeting between December 2019 
and March 2020.

RESOLVED that the Panel;

i. Note the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Workplan 19/20 - September 2019 update.

ii. Include on the Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Workplan an update on the Demand Management for 
the end of 19/20 or beginning of 20/21 municipal year.

iii. Take consideration of the views of Young Advisers in terms of 
the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny 
Workplan.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 
To the Chair and Members of the  
Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

  
DONCASTER SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN’S PARTNERSHIP (DSCP) ANNUAL REPORT 
2018-19 
 

Relevant Cabinet Member(s) Wards 
Affected 

Key Decision 

Councillor Nuala Fennelly  
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Schools 

All None 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The annual report provides detailed information on the effectiveness of children’s 

safeguarding arrangements in Doncaster. It provides an overview of the work of the 
Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) and its partners to promote the 
welfare of children and young people and demonstrates the impact of the work 
undertaken against national and strategic priorities. 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
2. Not exempt. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. Members of the Panel are asked to consider the content of the DSCP Annual Report 

2018-19. 
 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. The Overview and Scrutiny function has the potential to impact upon all of the 

Council’s key objectives by holding decision makers to account, reviewing 
performance and developing policy. This is achieved through making robust 
recommendations, monitoring performance of Council and external partners and 
reviewing issues outside the remit of the Council that have an impact on the residents 
of the borough. 

 
BACKGROUND AND CURRENT POSITION 
 
5. The Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership will provide an update and present 

the Board’s Annual Report 2018-19.  The Children and Social Work Act 2017 
designate Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group, South Yorkshire Police and 
Doncaster Council with Doncaster Children’s Services Trust as ‘safeguarding 
partners’ for Doncaster Borough, and are accountable for the effectiveness of the 
local arrangements to keep children safe. These new local arrangements centre on 
partnership working with a wide range of relevant agencies through Doncaster 
Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP), which builds on and replace those of the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6.



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

Doncaster’s Local Safeguarding Children Board. The new local arrangements – 
replacing Doncaster’s Local Safeguarding Children Board with Doncaster 
Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) was published in June 2019 and is 
available on the DSCP website, http://www.dscp.co.uk/  
 

6. National statutory guidance ‘Working Together 2018’ requires safeguarding partners 
to publish a report at least every 12 months setting out what has been achieved and 
delivered through the local safeguarding children arrangements. 
 

7. The Annual Report 2018-19 outlines details of the Board’s activities and more 
importantly it provides an opportunity to deliver a statement about the position of 
safeguarding in Doncaster and the progress made against its four strategic priorities 
as a multi-agency partnership in delivering its Business Plan.  
 

8. The report is intended for professionals in partner agencies and voluntary 
organisations as well as others who have an interest in the safeguarding of children 
and young people, and is made available to the general public via the Doncaster 
Safeguarding Children Partnership’s website http://www.dscp.co.uk/  

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
9. There are no specific options to consider within this report as it provides an 

opportunity for the Panel to discuss the Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report, 
progress on CSE and other national and local strategic priorities. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
10.  These reports enhance the accountability of Overview and Scrutiny by allowing 
 Members of the Panel to question and comment on the work undertaken by the DCSP 
 during the previous year and the position of safeguarding in Doncaster. 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
11. 

Outcomes Implications  
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 
more people to be able to pursue 
their ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter 
and prosperous future; 
• Better access to good fulfilling work 
• Doncaster businesses are supported 

to flourish 
• Inward Investment 

This issue has a direct impact on helping 
children live safely, healthily and active in a safe 
environment whilst ensuring the governance 
between the Children’s Board, Scrutiny and 
partners is working effectively. 
 

Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a borough 
that is vibrant and full of opportunity, 
where people enjoy spending time; 
•  The town centres are the beating 

heart of Doncaster 
•  More people can live in a good 

quality, affordable home 
•  Healthy and Vibrant Communities 

through Physical Activity and Sport 

This has a direct impact on the health and well-
being of the children of Doncaster both now and 
in the future. Children will live more active 
lifestyles with increased opportunities. 

Page 10

http://www.dscp.co.uk/
http://www.dscp.co.uk/


 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Outcomes Implications  
•  Everyone takes responsibility for 

keeping Doncaster Clean 
•  Building on our cultural, artistic and 

sporting heritage 
Doncaster Learning: Our vision is 
for learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life 
that is fulfilling; 
•  Every child has life-changing 

learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

•  Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good 

 or better 
•  Learning in Doncaster prepares 

young people for the world of 
 work 

Children will prosper and achieve better 
outcomes. 
 

Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for 
a borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents; 
•  Children have the best start in life 
•  Vulnerable families and individuals 

have support from someone they 
trust 

•  Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

Closer alignment of the Safeguarding children’s 
and safeguarding adults boards will ensure 
there is a cohesive, whole family approach to 
providing targeted services to improve the 
quality of end to end life. 
 

Connected Council: 
•  A modern, efficient and flexible 

workforce 
•  Modern, accessible customer 

interactions 
•  Operating within our resources and 

delivering value for money 
• A co-ordinated, whole person, whole 

life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

•  Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

•  Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance 

None 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS [JT 16/8/2019] 

 
12. There are no risks and assumptions relevant from this report. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [JT 16.08.2019] 

 
13. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (RM 16.08.19) 
 
14. There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. 

 
  

Page 11



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

HUMAN RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (LE 16.08.19) 
 
15.  There are no specific Human Resource implications arising from the contents of this 
 report. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS (JT 16.08.18) 
 
16. There are no specific Technology implications arising from this report. 

 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS (JT 16.08.2019) 
 
17.  The report captures the work to safeguard the welfare of children in Doncaster. The 

work of the Partnership clearly has direct health implications on the health of children 
and health inequalities. The areas identified in the report for further development will 
need to be monitored and reported on their progress and/or achievements over the 
next year. The report also sets out how the Partnership will link to other boards, such 
as the Health and Wellbeing Board, and the role of the CCG as a statutory partner. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS (JT 16.08.2019) 
 
18.  There are no specific Equality implications arising from this report 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
19.  Statutory partners have been consulted in the development of this report. 
  
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
20.  There are no background papers. 
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Tony Holmes 
Principal Social Worker & Safeguarding and Standards Manager 
 
LEAD OFFICER  

 
Alan Adams 
Interim Chief Executive  
Doncaster Children’s Services Trust 

Page 12



 
 

Hjkjhjbhbhjjhujbhjbjhnjhjolikihj# 

Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership 
Annual Report 2018 - 2019 

Page 13



V.1 04/06/19 

2 
 

              
    

Page 14



2 
 

Foreword 
 
As the safeguarding partners for Doncaster, as defined by the Children and Social Work Act 2017, we are very pleased 
to present our Annual Report 2018 – 2019 on local multi-agency arrangements to safeguarding children. This report 
provides an overview on what has been done to keep children safe from abuse and neglect, through delivering the 
requirements of the Government’s statutory Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018. 
 
The new safeguarding partnership arrangements build on and replace those of the Doncaster Safeguarding Children 
Board. We wish to acknowledge the dedication and hard work of all those involved in keeping children in Doncaster 
safe since local safeguarding children boards were established in 2006. 
 
The world is changing fast for children, families and communities, and with it the pressures and the risks that must 
be safeguarded against. The safeguarding of children continues to evolve at local, national, and even international 
levels, so we must continue to meet the challenges with an open attitude of learning. This of course extends across 
the partnership of all agencies and organisations working together to safeguard children, and we also need to be 
learning from the children, families and communities we work with. 
 
Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group, South Yorkshire Police and Doncaster Council with Doncaster Children’s 
Services Trust are designated by the Children and Social Work Act 2017 as ‘safeguarding partners’ for Doncaster 
borough, and as such we are accountable for the effectiveness of the local arrangements to keep children safe. 
Safeguarding is, however, everyone’s responsibility, and through the Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership 
we are working together with a wide range of other agencies including health services, schools, early years settings, 
social care, and voluntary, community and faith organisations. 
Our vision is clear: 
We work together to help Doncaster children and young people to be safe! 

 

        
Damien Allen Paul Moffat Shaun Morley                Jackie Pederson 
Acting Chief Executive Chief Executive Chief Superintendent    Chief Officer 
Doncaster Council             Doncaster Children’s    South Yorkshire              Doncaster Clinical        
      Services Trust                Police                                 Commissioning    Group              

     

  
   

Page 15



 

3 
 

  
Contents 
 
 
• Foreword by the safeguarding partners   
• Contents  
• Executive Summary  
• Purpose of the Report 
• What are the local safeguarding arrangements? 
• Safeguarding partners and Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnersh  
• The local context for safeguarding in Doncaster 
• Effectiveness of the Safeguarding Arrangements 
• Early Help 
• Referral for safeguarding concerns 
• Child in Need 
• Child Protection Conferences and Plans 
• Looked After Children 
• Children who are Privately Fostered 
• Children Missing From Home and Care 
• Allegations against people who work with children 
• Child Death Reviews 
• Progress against Strategic Priorities 2018 -2019 
• Workforce Development 
• Independent Convenor’s Review of the Effectiveness of Partnersh  

Working  
• Appendix - Safeguarding Business Plan – “Plan on a Page” 
• Appendix - Board Partner Financial Contributions and Expenditu  

2018/19 
 

Page 16



 

4 
 

Executive Summary   
 
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 designate Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group, South Yorkshire Police 
and Doncaster Council with Doncaster Children’s Services Trust as ‘safeguarding partners’ for Doncaster borough, 
and are accountable for the effectiveness of the local arrangements to keep children safe. These new local 
arrangements centre on partnership working with a wide range of relevant agencies through Doncaster Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (DSCP), which builds on and replace those of the Doncaster’s Local Safeguarding Children Board. 
 
National statutory guidance Working Together 2018 (Chapter 3, paragraphs 41 – 46) requires safeguarding partners 
to publish a report at least every 12 months setting out what has been done because of the local safeguarding 
children arrangements. 
 
Local safeguarding arrangements include the following elements: 
 
• Family life 
• Universal services  
• Early Help 
• Statutory services – children’s social care 

o Child in Need Plan 
o Child Protection Plan 
o Child in Care  

 
The intention is that intervention will be at the lowest appropriate level, so that children and their families are not 
involved in safeguarding procedures if that can be avoided. 
 
Doncaster has a population of approximately 307,374. It is the 48th most deprived out of 326 local authority areas 
in England, with an estimated 13,930 children and young people aged 19 and under, the number of children living in 
conditions of poverty is higher than the national average. Hence, a significant proportion of families in Doncaster will 
face significant challenges in caring for and raising their children. While we should not assume that economic and 
social deprivation are a direct cause of safeguarding issues in a community, deprivation is nevertheless regarded as 
significant among the conditions in which child maltreatment, abuse and neglect occur.  
 
The demand for children’s services in Doncaster is higher than the national average: referral rates to children’s social 
care are higher in Doncaster than national, as are the rate of Child Protection Plans and Children Looked After. The 
higher s.47 Child Protection enquiries and Child Protection Conference rates are also a feature of this higher level of 
overall demand. 
 
Early Help services have a key role in addressing lower levels of need and in preventing family difficulties escalating 
to the point where children’s social care might be needed. The provision of single-agency Early Help continues to 
increase, though there has also been some decline in multi-agency Early Help. 
 
The Multi-Agency Access Point received 16,698 contacts requesting a service in 2018-19, reflecting a broad 
awareness of needs and safeguarding issues amongst partner agencies, and the level of deprivation in the borough. 
Approximately a quarter of contacts are taken forward by children’s social care for an assessment, and of these 30% 
then proceed to a statutory service (which may include child protection investigation). The level of children in need 
of a statutory service is declining though remains above national averages. Work to understand the true nature of 
the patterns of demand in Doncaster remains ongoing. 
 
The trend is a steady decline over recent years, and there are no Child Protection Plans that have been in place for 
two years or longer. This suggests that effective early intervention is preventing problems from escalating to a point 
where child protection procedures are required. 
 
Participation of children and young people in their Child Protection Conferences in significantly high in Doncaster, as 
a result of pro-active work by Doncaster Children’s Services Trust. This has resulted in many benefits including more 
meaningful contributions and greater engagement with Child Protection Plans, reduction in length of plans, more 
successful ‘stepdown’ to Child in Need or Early Help Plans, and better engagement with other professionals including 
school. 

  

Page 17



 

5 
 

Effective ‘Pre-Proceedings’ processes – where a there is prospect of a Care Order being sought to take a child into 
care – has resulted in 44% of cases being resolved through no further progression to Court, hence successfully 
diverting children from care. 
 
At the end of the year, 534 children are in the care of Doncaster Children's Services Trust. The continued reduction 
of the number of cared for children reflects a number of successful strategies including Edge of Care interventions, 
Pre-Proceedings, and multi-agency working to explore all possibilities to re-unite children with parents or family 
members. 
 
DSCP has received assurance of effective partnership working in respect of Children Missing from Home and Care, 
Private Fostering and allegations against professionals and those in positions of trust. 
DSCP also reports on progress against its Strategic Priorities: 
 
• Strategic Priority 1 - DSCP is assured that effective arrangements are in place for responding to key 

safeguarding risks and that there is consistently good practice across safeguarding services. 
• Strategic Priority 2 - DSCP has a clear understanding of the effectiveness of the safeguarding system in 

Doncaster and can evidence how this is used to influence the Board’s priorities. 
• Strategic Priority 3 - DSCP communicates effectively to ensure that the work of the Board is well publicised, 

that learning is disseminated and that the voice of children, young people, practitioners and the wider 
community (including minority groups and faith groups) are able to influence the Board’s work. 

• Strategic Priority 4 - DSCP is aware of emerging issues which have implications across the partnership and 
works effectively to ensure appropriate action is taken. 

 
DSCP has also delivered a multi-agency training programme across a wide range of safeguarding issues which was 
accessed by 2117 professionals. 
 
 

Purpose of the Report   
 

Working Together 2018 (Chapter 3, paragraphs 41 – 46) requires safeguarding partners to publish a report at least 
every 12 months setting out what has been done as a result of the local safeguarding children arrangements. This is 
in order to bring transparency for children, families and all practitioners about the safeguarding activities 
undertaken. 
 
It covers the work undertaken by Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership in the financial year April 2018 to 
March 2019, assessing the progress made by the Board as a multi-agency partnership in delivering its Business Plan.  
 
The report is intended for professionals in partner agencies and voluntary organisations as well as others who have 
an interest in the safeguarding of children and young people, and is made available to the general public via the 
Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership’s website http://www.dscp.co.uk/  
 
The report will be presented to Doncaster Council’s Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel. It will also be shared 
with the Schools, the Children and Families Strategic Partnership Board, and the Safer Stronger Doncaster 
Partnership, all of whom have a wider remit to promote better outcomes for children. DSCP leads and influences the 
children’s safeguarding agenda in these wider political and partnership arenas and is held to account for its impact.  
 
 
What are the local safeguarding arrangements?  

 
The arrangements that each local authority area are required to have in place are described by the Children Act 2004, 
as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017, and the statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard 
Children. 
 
Family life - Parents have primary responsibility for their children. Public services have a duty to provide support to 
children and families. UN Convention on the Rights of the Child Article 18 (parental responsibilities and state 
assistance) states that both parents share responsibility for bringing up their child and should always consider what 
is best for the child. Governments must support parents by creating support services for children and giving parents 
the help they need to raise their children. 

Page 18

http://www.dscp.co.uk/


 

6 
 

Universal Services - All services that provide services for children and families (child care, schools, health services, 
sports, leisure, etc.) are expected to provide those services in an environment that is safe. They are expected to have 
safeguarding policies and procedures, and to train their staff and volunteers to be aware of signs of abuse and 
neglect, and to raise issues of concern with their agency’s safeguarding lead or refer to children’s services. They are 
also expected to respond to allegations against staff in positions of trust with children. 
 
Early Help – where difficulties for children begin to emerge they may receive additional help from universal services, 
possibly by services co-ordinating their support to a child and family through a ‘Team Around the Child’. 
 
Statutory Services – where there are concerns about possible or actual maltreatment, abuse or neglect, or more 
complex family problems, a family, a member of the public, or a member of staff from an agency involved with the 
child should make a referral to children’s services. 
 
Children’s services, with the support of safeguarding specialists from agencies such as Health and Police, will consider 
whether there are safeguarding concerns, whether any immediate action should be taken, and will carry out a 
detailed assessment of need to identify what, if any, additional support may be needed. Children’s Services will then 
either take no further action, agree an early help action plan or work with the child and family and other agencies 
involved through: 
 
• A Child in Need Plan – a voluntary arrangement with children and families to receive support led by a social 

worker along with any other agency involved with the child and family. 
• A Child Protection Plan – a social worker and any other agency involved with the child and family will identify 

what needs to happen or to change for the child to be safe at home. 
• Child Looked After by the local authority – in the exceptional circumstances where a child’s safety or welfare 

at home cannot be assured, children’s services may apply to the Courts for an order allowing the child to 
found another place to live, for example, with foster carers. Where a home situation improves, a looked after 
child may be able to return home to live with parents or with close relatives. In some situations, a child might 
eventually be adopted, or a young person may live independently once they are of an appropriate age to do 
so. 

 
The elements of the safeguarding arrangements work together as a system. Wherever possible, responsibility 
remains with the child’s family, the level of support provided the level of need, and statutory interventions such as 
involvement of children’s services or Police are kept to a minimum.  
 

 
 
Figure 1:  DSCP Levels of Need: the continuum of need and response. 
 
An illustration of the overall system for services to children and families is provided in DSCP’s Levels of need 
document (November 2017) which uses figure 1 above to illustrate a continuum of need and response. In the Levels 
of Need diagram, ‘safeguarding’ – that is, protection from abuse and neglect – is described as Level 4. However, the 
diagram also shows the importance of earlier intervention and support in reducing or removing the need for children 
and families to become subject to safeguarding procedures. The intention is that intervention will be at the lowest 
appropriate level, so that children and their families are not involved in safeguarding procedures if that can be 
avoided. 

Page 19



 

7 
 

Safeguarding partners and Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership 
 
The local safeguarding children arrangements are the responsibility of the three ‘safeguarding partners’ – Chief 
Officers of Doncaster Council, Clinical Commissioning Group, and the Police. The safeguarding partners have agreed 
a structure to oversee the implementation and effectiveness of the local arrangements – this involves a much wider 
group of agencies that have key safeguarding responsibilities, and is referred to as Doncaster Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (DSCP). This provides governance and accountability so that all agencies involved are clear about their 
safeguarding responsibilities and that they work together to co-ordinate all their safeguarding activities. 
 

 
Figure 2:  Structure of Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership 
 
For further details of the local safeguarding arrangements, see the document Local Safeguarding Partnership 
Arrangements to succeed Doncaster Safeguarding Children Board in response to Working Together 2018 available 
on the DSCP website. 
 
Links with other strategic partnerships  
 
The DSCP works very closely with a number of other multi-agency strategic partnerships: 
 
• Doncaster Safeguarding Adults Board  
• Health and Wellbeing Board  
• Safer Stronger Doncaster Partnership  
• Children & Young People’s Partnership and Early Help Strategy Group 

 
There are overlapping areas of concern across these partnerships and others. Doncaster has recently put in place a 
Chief Officers Safeguarding Overview Partnership (COSOP) in order to ensure that there is co-ordination across 
partnerships and linkages with other partnerships and plans such as Doncaster Growing Together, and the plan for 
the strategic partnership Team Doncaster. 
 
 

  

Page 20



 

8 
 

The local context for safeguarding in Doncaster 
 
Population 
 
Approximately 307,374 people live in Doncaster, in terms of the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 
Doncaster is:  
 
• 48th most deprived out of 326 local authority areas in England  
• 4th most deprived out of 21 local authority areas in the Yorkshire and Humber Region  
• The 2nd most deprived area in South Yorkshire  
• The 4th most deprived area in its comparator group  
• 1 in 5 Lower Super Output Areas in Doncaster is in within the most deprived 10% of the UK.  

 
A rise in the number of cohabiting partners, step families, lone parents and the recording of same sex relationships 
in the past 10 years has changed family composition in Doncaster. The latest ‘Information for Doncaster’ (information 
provided by DMBC) shows that nearly 71.9% of families with dependent children are a couple; which means nearly 
1 in 3 families (28.1%) are lone parent families. The main difference between Doncaster and the national picture is 
the higher proportions of families that are cohabiting, particularly where this involves step-families. 
 
The population of young people aged 0-24 is 89,500 which is 29.1% of the total population. This is the same as our 
comparator group and but slightly lower than national proportions at 30.2%. 
 
The number of children in poverty in Doncaster is 21.0%, which is higher than the national average of 16.6%. This 
equates to around 13,930 children and young people aged 19 and under. Poverty is not distributed equally across 
the borough with some lower super output areas (LSOA) having over 50% of children in poverty compared to other 
area only having 5%.  
 
In Doncaster, 6.2% of residents were born outside the UK. The main group outside of white British is ‘white other’ 
which equates to 3.1% of the population aged 0-24. The main language in Doncaster, for people aged 3-15, if not 
English, is Polish.  
 
Doncaster is the second largest economy in South Yorkshire; a large proportion of the population is in receipt of state 
benefits. Approximately 3.3% of the population in Doncaster claim job seekers allowance or universal credit 
compared to 2.2% nationally. In the 18-24 age category, 5.5% of the population are claim job seekers allowance or 
universal credit compared to 3.0% nationally.  
 
The number of 16-18 years old not in education, employment or training is 5.3% of the population as at June 2017. 
This is higher than the national average. 
 
 The proportion of people in Doncaster who achieve a Level 2 or level 3 qualifications by the age of 19 is 78.9% and 
44.5% respectively. This is lower than the regional (81.6%) and (53.6%) and national (83.6%) and (57.5%) averages 
respectively.  
 
The NSPCC have estimated that one in five children in the UK is impacted by domestic abuse. However, Growing 
Futures estimate that in Doncaster this is one in three children. This suggests that more children compared to the 
national or regional average may require additional services to achieve their best outcomes.  
 
Ethnicity 
 
The numbers of pupils in Doncaster are predominantly White British (34,458), and White other (2,639). 
 
Doncaster has fewer school age children from ethnic minority groups than regional and national averages. The 
percentage of primary and secondary school age children from ethnic minority groups is 15.9% and 13.0% 
respectively. This is much lower than the regional (26.3% and 23.3%) and national (32.1% and 29.1%) averages 
respectively. 
 

  

Page 21



 

9 
 

Health  
 
The health and wellbeing of children in Doncaster is generally worse than the England average. The infant mortality 
rate of 4.8 per 1000 is higher than both the regional and national rate of 4.1 and 3.9 respectively (2014-16).   
 
The smoking status of mothers at time of delivery in Doncaster is higher, at 13.0%, compared to the national average 
of 10.7% (2016/17).  
 
Children in Doncaster have average levels of obesity: 23.0% of children aged 4-5 years and 35.8% of children aged 
10-11 years. (2016/17). 
 
Life expectancy at birth for males, in Doncaster is 77.8, lower than the regional and national averages in 2014-2016. 
There is a higher life expectancy for females at 81.5 however this still compares unfavourably with regional and 
national averages. 
 
Family Composition  
 
Family composition is changing in numbers, with variable arrangements rather than the traditional married family 
household. A rise of cohabiting partners, step families, lone parents and same sex relationships in the past decade 
has resulted in a very different profile of family composition in Doncaster. The latest information shows that over 
71.9% of families with dependent children are couples, with almost one in three children living in lone parent families 
(28.1%). A key difference between the family composition profile in Doncaster and that found nationally, is the higher 
proportion of families that are co-habiting. 
 
Deprivation  
 
Doncaster is currently ranked 48 out of 326 local authorities according to the index of multiple deprivation and is 
fourth worst of the 21 Yorkshire and Humber local authorities (latest Government release of Index of Multiple 
Deprivation is 2015). One in five of Lower Super Output Areas (a geographical area with typically a population of 
1500 people) in Doncaster is in the most deprived 10% nationally. This is illustrated in figure 3 below. 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3:  Deprivation levels in Doncaster Borough in relation to national figures. 
 

Page 22



 

10 
 

Eligibility for free school meals (June 2018) is means-tested on household income, principally welfare benefits, so is 
a useful proxy indicator for deprivation. Doncaster is above national and statistical neighbour percentages for 
primary and secondary schools. 
 

 Primary Secondary Special PRU 
Doncaster 16.6% 15.3% 35.6% 30.7% 
National 14.2% 13.3% 36.7% 41.8% 
South Yorkshire 16.4% 15.5% 38.2% 43.4% 
Statistical neighbours 16.2% 14.9% 37.9% 40.0% 

 
Table Z:  % Eligibility for free school meals.  
 
*Doncaster Councils ‘statistical neighbours’ – 10 local authorities with similar demographic characteristics – are  
 Rotherham, Barnsley (both considered ‘extremely close’ to Doncaster), North East Lincolnshire, Wigan, Wakefield, 
 Tameside, Dudley, North East Lincolnshire, Telford and Wrekin, and Redcar and Cleveland (‘very close’). 
 
A report By us, for us: A youth-led commission on child poverty in Doncaster, commissioned by the Children and 
Families Executive Board (September 2018) concluded the following: 
 

in Doncaster almost 1 child in 3 lives in poverty – that’s over 20,000 children. Poverty affects children’s lives 
in lots of different ways: their family may not be able to afford enough food, heat their home, buy birthday 
presents, or could fall into debt. Young people can lose their homes, or become victims of crime if their area 
is unsafe. Poverty affects how well children do in school, how healthy they are and how they behave. It also 
affects their future – what kind of jobs they can get and whether they end up being poor as adults. 

 
Summary 
 
The data above suggests that a significant proportion of families in Doncaster will face significant challenges in caring 
for and raising their children. While we should not assume that economic and social deprivation are a direct cause 
of safeguarding issues in a community, deprivation is nevertheless regarded as significant among the conditions in 
which child maltreatment, abuse and neglect occur.  
 
Other research, The relationship between poverty, child abuse and neglect: an evidence review, Bywaters et.al., 
2016, states that There is a strong association between families’ socio-economic circumstances and the chances that 
their children will experience child abuse and neglect...The greater the economic hardship the greater the likelihood 
and severity of child abuse and neglect. For example, Child Protection Plan rates in neighbourhoods among the most 
deprived 10 per cent in England as a whole were almost 11 times higher than rates in the most advantaged 10 per 
cent of neighbourhoods (Bywaters et.al. 2014). However, it should be noted that this is ‘co-relation,’ not necessarily 
‘causation,’ and there will be other social and structural factors that are significant in the causation of child abuse 
and neglect. Nevertheless, the data in this section confirm that services for children and families in Doncaster face a 
significant challenge in responding to children’s safeguarding issues. 
Demand for children’s services in Doncaster is higher than the national average: referral rates to children’s social 
care are higher in Doncaster than national, as are the rate of Child Protection Plans and Children Looked After. The 
higher s.47 Child Protection enquiries and Child Protection Conference rates are also a feature of this higher level of 
overall demand. 
 
 

Effectiveness of the Safeguarding Arrangements 
 
Working Together 2018 requires the safeguarding partnership to use data and intelligence to assess the effectiveness 
of the help being provided to children and families, including early help, and report on effectiveness in its Annual 
Report. 
 
 

  

Page 23



 

11 
 

Early Help 
 
The Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and their Families 2017 – 2020 aims to provide prevention and 
earlier intervention, by providing support to families when a need is identified or as soon as a problem emerges, at 
any point in a child’s life. This can be from the point of conception through to the teenage years, to prevent or reduce 
the need for statutory services, though Early Help relates to a much wider set of outcomes for children beyond 
safeguarding (for example, ready for school, school absence, mental health, etc.). We might expect to see that Early 
Help has some impact on reducing the need for Children’s Social Care involvement, that significant proportion of 
safeguarding referrals to children’s services had already been known to Early Help, and that a significant use of Early 
Help when a child’s case is ‘stepped down’ from a Child Protection Plan, or when a child returns home from care. 
 
During 2018 – 2019, there were 6181 referrals made for Early Help support. 
 

 
 
Figure 3:  Referrals to the Early Help Hub 
 
When the need for Early Help is identified by any agency, contact is made with the Early Help Hub to agree the level 
of intervention and who should act as Lead Professional. This Early Help ‘Pathway’ is used well by Education and the 
Parenting and Family Support service, with Health partners tending to use the system for more complex cases. There 
has been significant input from the Early Help Coordinator team and intervention from the Early Help Strategy group 
over the last year to encourage Health Services to play a bigger role in Early Help. 
 

 2017-18 2018-19 
Single agency Early Help 535 – 25% 1003 – 41% 
Multi-agency Early Help 1640 – 75% 1429 – 59% 
Total 2175 2432 

 
Table 1:  Early Help open cases at the end of the year 
 
The use of the Single Agency Early Help (Level 2 in the DSCP Levels of Need framework) continues to increase for less 
complex Early Help and when former multi-agency cases progress well. Single Agency cases do not require an 
assessment or multiagency meeting process; this means support to the family can happen rapidly and develops 
practitioner capacity to work with more families. Out of the current single agency cases just over half are led by 
Education providers. 
Multi-agency Early Help has, in contrast declined over the year; this is noteworthy as multi-agency Early Help is at 
Level 3 in the Levels of Need framework, which plays a role in preventing family difficulties escalating to the point 
where Children’s Services need to be involved (Level 4). 
 
The Parenting and Families Support Service (PAFSS) and Education remain the main case holders for multi-agency 
Early help, the proportion of their multi-agency Early Help cases have remained static over the last year at 40.7% and 
44.9% respectively (reference: Early Help Progress Report to DSCP, April 2019). 
 

Page 24



 

12 
 

Waiting times for help remain an issue. The average timescale from allocation to completion of an assessment 
remains over the 30 day target, though has improved over the course of 2018-19. Waiting and assessment times 
over timescale will impact on children and their families and may affect disengagement and step up rates. 
The closure during the year of the waiting list for the Parenting and Family Service will have had an impact on case 
management and may impact the wider disengagement of partner agencies and step up of cases to children’s social 
care. 
 
Over 2018-19, 2545 Early Help cases were closed, the outcomes being as follows: 
 
• 31.2% because the Early Help Plan was completed;  
• 24.9% due to family disengagement;  
• 26.5% due step-up to Children’s Social Care;  
• 11.7% because the assessment did not identify support needs;  
• 5.8% for other reasons (move out of area, or ongoing SEND support only). 

 
The Early Help Strategy group is investigating the level of family disengagement, and also the level of step-up to 
Children’s Social Care. 
 
Social Care referrals with previous Early Help involvement have increased from 10.6% Quarter 4 2017-18 to 21.26% 
at Quarter 4 2018-19. This increase is due to the targeted work of the Early Help Coordinator team in promoting 
Early Help across the partnership and working collaboratively with organisations to train their staff. Further 
improvement in this data is required. Work will continue with RDaSH staff to support further use of the Early Help 
pathway and work with Doncaster & Bassetlaw Hospitals Midwifery service began in April 2019.   
 

Referral for safeguarding concerns 
 
Working Together 2018 requires that anyone who has concerns about a child’s welfare should make a referral to 
local authority children’s social care and should do so immediately if there is a concern that the child is suffering 
significant harm or is likely to do so. This is reinforced by DSCP’s Training Strategy which requires all partner agencies 
to ensure that their staff (and volunteers) are competent in recognising the signs and indicators of abuse and respond 
appropriately. This would include raising any safeguarding concern with their own agency’s designated safeguarding 
lead, or making a referral to children’s social care. 
 
Where referring agencies are clear about their safeguarding responsibilities and about the pathways for referral, we 
may expect to see referrals from a wide range of agencies arriving at children’s social care with good quality 
information, leading to a high conversion rate of referrals into s.17 assessments, s.47 enquiries, and Child Protection 
Plans. 
 
Referrals are made to the Multi-Agency Access Point (MAAP) where initial screening and information gathering takes 
place. 

 Total 
South Yorkshire Police 
(including all Domestic Abuse notifications) 1479 

Health 224 
Education 914 
Other 2101 
Total 4718 

 
Table 2:  Referrals made to the Multi-Agency Access Point (MAAP) by agency. 

 
In 2018 – 2019: 
 
• there were 16,698 contacts received requesting a service 
• 3187 proceeded to Early Help 
• 4717 proceeded as a referral to Children’s Social Care 
• 47% of cases proceeding as referrals to Children’s Social Care had previously had some involvement with Early 

Help in the previous 12 months – were on the Early Help Pathway, or had an initial or reviewed Early Help 
Plan. 

• Children’s Social Care proceeded with 4543 Children & Families Assessments. 

Page 25



 

13 
 

Doncaster has high levels of deprivation and this translates into a high level of referral for statutory services, though 
the rate at which cases progress from an assessment into Children’s Social Care is 30%, with more than half of 
referrals receiving information and advice or no further action. 
 

 Percentage 
Child In Need Plan or Child Protection Plan 30 
Strategy Discussion 2 
Early Help/another agency 14 
Information and Advice/No Further Action 54 

 
Table 3:  Outcomes of first Children & Families Assessments by Children’s Social Care 
Work to understand the true nature of the patterns of demand in Doncaster remains ongoing. Within the Children 
& Young Person’s Plan, work will be focussing on building family and community resilience which in the medium to 
long term will have a positive impact on demand for statutory services. (Children & Young Person’s Plan Impact 
Report 2018). 
 
 

Children in Need 
 
The Department for Education’s definition for ‘child in need’ includes children in care, children on a protection plan, 
children in need plans, open for more than 63 days and new referrals awaiting assessment. On average, the rate of 
children in need in Doncaster during 2018/19 was 401 per 10,000 population (approximately 1230 children in total). 
Following previous years’ trend, this is expected to remain above the national and statistical neighbour averages (see 
table X below) – this may be as expected given the level of deprivation and its relationship to safeguarding, as noted 
above. 
 

 
 
Figure 4:  Children in need of care, protection and accommodation in Doncaster with statistical neighbour and 
national comparators. 
 
Child in Need Plans 
 
The ‘entry level’ service provided by Children’s Social Care is the Child in Need Plan, support agreed with a family on 
a voluntary basis, with a qualified Social Worker as the Lead Professional co-ordinating support from any other 
agency involved. Child in Need Plans may be a good way to engage a family in a constructive way without having to 
resort to Child Protection Procedures, which may feel threatening for the family.    
 

  

Page 26



 

14 
 

Strategy Discussions and S.47 Enquiries 
 
Whenever there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm there 
should be a strategy discussion involving local authority children’s social care, the police, health and other bodies 
such as the referring agency. 
 
Following a multi-agency strategy meeting, a section 47 enquiry is initiated to decide whether and what type of 
action is required to safeguard and promote the welfare of a child who is suspected of or likely to be suffering 
significant harm. This is a critical decision point in the safeguarding process; where concerns of significant harm to a 
child are substantiated, the next step would be to convene an Initial Child Protection Conference. 
 
• In 2018 – 19,937 children were subject to a s.47 Child Protection enquiries carried out, and of these 411 

(44%) children proceeded to an Initial Child Protection Case Conference.  
 

An analysis was conducted for DSCP of Doncaster’s s.47 decision-making considering those that were progressed to 
Initial Child Protection Conferences and those that were not, against regional, national and statistical comparators. 
This indicated that demand for safeguarding services for children in Doncaster has stayed consistently above 
comparators for a number of years. It also demonstrates, however that at this level of demand the conversion at 
each stage of intervention is broadly similar with all comparators. This tends to indicate that safeguarding practice 
in Doncaster is no different than elsewhere. 
 

 
Child Protection Conferences and Plans 
 
• The Year 18/19 began with 374 children subject to Child Protection Plans, and closed with 300 children subject 

to child protection plans.  
 

The trend is a steady decline over recent years, and there are no Child Protection Plans that have been in place for 
two years or longer. This suggests that effective early intervention is preventing problems from escalating to a point 
where child protection procedures are required. When child protection plans are required the gradual reduction in 
duration of these plans suggests that effective and timely planning and support for children and families is being 
provided.  This is generally desirable as child protection procedures can feel intrusive and threatening for families, 
hence it is preferable to be able to engage families voluntarily at an earlier stage.  
 

 
 
Figure 5:  Number of children in Doncaster subject to child protection plans 
 
Government published data in the Characteristics of children in need: 2017 to 2018 show that Doncaster use of 
Child Protection Plans at 31st March 2018 was at a rate per 10,000 children of 56.8, which was higher than the 
national rate (45.3) but below that of statistical neighbours (60.3). (National data for 2018-19 is not published until 
later in 2019). 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

March 17 Sept 17 March 18 Sept 18 March 19

Page 27



 

15 
 

 Total  
2016/17 

Total 
2017/18 

Total 
2018/19 

Initial Child Protection Conferences  
(Child Protection Plans transferred from another area) 310 315 232 (20) 

Review Child Protection Conferences 632 585 482 
Total number of Conferences   942 900 734 

 
Table 4:  Child Protection Conferences held in 2018 - 2019 – the figures relate to families as siblings will be 
considered at the same Conference even though each child will have a separate Plan. 
 
 
• 16% child protection plans during 2018/19 were for a second or subsequent time within 2 years, which is an 

improvement from 24% during 2017/18. 
• For comparison, the national figure during 2017/18 for the percentage of child protection plans which were 

for a second or subsequent time was 20.2%, and for Statistical Neighbours was 16.8%. 
 

Children becoming subject to a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time within a 2 year period is an 
area of performance that is receiving on-going scrutiny from the child protection conference service to ensure that 
interventions are affective and decision making appropriate. 
 
The consistent decline in the use of Child Protection Plans may be the result of a wide variety of factors, the DCST 
Conferencing and Review Service having worked in partnership with other agencies and their safeguarding leads to 
improve the quality and proper management of plans through the Child Protection Conferences and the multi-
agency core groups of practitioners that meet in between the conferences. 
 
DCST have adopted the Signs of Safety approach to child protection, and this has enabled professionals to be very 
clear with families what the worries are and what needs to happen to keep a child safe. Parents’ engagement in Child 
Protection Conferences has improved, as have the contribution of children and young people subject to plans, 
supported in some cases by an advocate who can support them to ensure their views and wishes are heard – see the 
next section below ‘Participation in Child Protection Conferences.’ Services within DCST – Family Group 
Conferencing, Edge of Care, and Multi-Systemic Therapy for Child Abuse and Neglect – may also provide additional 
intensive support within the context of a child protection plan. 
 
The Conferencing and Review Service (which provides independent chairing of the Conferences) has continued to 
work closely with the Clinical Commissioning Group to engage General Practitioners in the safeguarding process, 
though regular GP network meetings, a co-developed conference reporting format for GPs, and direct liaison 
between individual Conference Chairs and GPs around specific cases. This has greatly improved working 
relationships. 
 
South Yorkshire Police have provided a Police Safeguarding lead to work alongside Conferencing and Review Service 
to increase Police engagement in the Conferencing process as appropriate. This support has also included assisting 
with the daily management of meetings, waiting areas, etc. particularly where there may be conflict between family 
members. 
 
The Conferencing and Review Service has also maintained monthly liaison with safeguarding leads in partner 
agencies to promote their understanding and engagement. One example is contact with the Community 
Rehabilitation Company which revealed that it was undertaking a significant amount of single-agency early help with 
families where there was domestic abuse.  

 
 end of 2017/18 end of 2016/17 end of 2015/16 end of 18/19 
Emotional abuse 48% 14.9% 20.50% 56.7% 
Neglect 39.1% 74.9% 69.24% 34.3% 
Physical abuse 9.7% 4.9% 5.86% 6% 
Sexual abuse 3.1% 5.3% 4.31% 3% 

 
Table 5:  Percentage of Child Protection Plan categories of abuse at end of year - Fluctuations in figures for 
emotional abuse and neglect reflect, at least in part, the changing recording policies in relation to the impact of 
domestic abuse on children in the home; taken together, emotional abuse and neglect remain the lead category for 
approximately 90% of Child Protection Plans. 

Page 28



 

16 
 

Participation in Child Protection Conferences 
 
Generally, children over the age of 11 are expected to be considered for invitation to their case conference, with 
account being given to a range of factors such as their age, wishes, and whether attendance would cause harm or 
distress.  Practices have developed to encourage and support children and young people’s attendance and 
participation, for example, child-friendly invitation and consultation documents, afterschool slots, more child-
friendly venues, the promotion of advocacy to allow children’s voices to be heard, and changes in the way that 
Conferences are chaired.  
 

 
 
Figure 6:  Total participation for 18/19 of eligible children invited to conference 
 
As a result, there has been an increase in children and young people’s attendance at conferences and at core groups, 
with more meaningful contributions and greater engagement with the plan. This has contributed to reduction in 
length of plans, more successful ‘stepdown’ to Child in Need or Early Help Plans, and better engagement with other 
professionals including school. There is also a shift in culture leading to other professionals habitually seeking the 
views of young people and championing their involvement and contributions. Overall, this represents a very 
successful area of practice. 
 
Child Protection Plan outcomes - Pre-Proceedings 

 
In some instances, the risk to the child remains significant despite intervention through the Child Protection Plan. In 
such instances, Doncaster Children’s Trust may seek legal advice about applying to the Family Court for the Child to 
be accommodated elsewhere, at the same time making further efforts to work with the family to try to avoid this – 
this is referred to as ‘Pre-Proceeding’. 
 
In the year 2018 – 19, 82 cases were progressed to Pre-Proceedings: 
 
• 19 (23%) were in Pre-Proceedings at the end of the year (31st March 2019)             
• 27 (33%) progressed into legal proceedings, an application being made for a care order    
• 36 (44%) no further Action – this may have been because the family responded positively to the prospect of 

the child being accommodated, and hence an effective intervention diverting a child from care.                     
 
When there is a risk of a child becoming Looked After, Doncaster Children’s Trust may look for additional services to 
keep a child at home: 
 
• Edge of Care service – intensive family support. 
• Family Group Conference. 
• Multi-systemic Therapy for Child Abuse and Neglect service (MST-CAN) - three therapists, a case worker, a 

psychiatrist and a supervisor, are available to work intensively with all members of the family. 
• Growing Futures' team of Domestic Abuse Navigators (DANs), help children and their families quickly find the 

support they need to stay safe and move on together. 

  

0

50

100

150

200

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Invited

Attended

Page 29



 

17 
 

Looked after Children 
 
A child is ‘Looked After’ when they are provided with accommodation by children’s social care (or a provider on their 
behalf) for more than 24 hours.  
 
While many children who become Looked After will have been subject to a child protection plan, some may not have, 
for example, when a S.47 investigation considers that the risk of significant harm in the home environment is too 
high for the child to remain.  
 
Children may also become looked after for reasons other than their protection, for example, when a parent becomes 
ill and there is no one else in the family network to provide care, or when a child with disabilities needs a very high 
level of residential care which extends beyond 75 nights in a 12 month period. 
 
Doncaster Corporate Parenting Board works to ensure that the Council and the Doncaster Children’s Services Trust 
effectively discharge their role as Corporate Parent for all the children and young people in its care. It works closely 
with our Children in Care and Care Leavers council and with the Multi-Agency Looked after Partnership to ensure the 
welfare of all looked after children including their safeguarding.  
 
Doncaster Corporate Parenting Board publishes its own Annual Report. 
 
Care Plans for Looked After Children are regularly reviewed with a multi-agency group of professionals chaired by an 
Independent Reviewing Officer. Children and young people are encouraged to attend or participate in their Reviews, 
as are family members where this may be appropriate. 

 
 
Figure 7:   Children In Care 2013 – 2019 - Please note - figures for March 2019 will not be confirmed until the SSDA903 
CIC Return is submitted to the Department for Education. 
 

 
 
Figure 8:  Children in care April 2018 – March 2019 

420

440

460

480

500

520

540

560

580

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Page 30



 

18 
 

At the end of the year, 534 children are in the care of Doncaster Children's Services, at a rate of 81.0 per 10,000 
children. This is a further reduction of 26 children and young people since the end of the previous quarter, where 
the rate was 85.0 per 10,000 children. The current rate of children in care is higher than the national rate of 64 per 
10,000 but lower than our Statistical Neighbour rate of 90.1, based on 2017 - 18 out turns. Increases in children in 
care have continued to be reported across the country and region and in particular with our Statistical Neighbours, 
all of which have reported an increase in the 2017 - 18 outturns, with statistical neighbours increasing from 82.1 in 
2016/17 to 90.1 in 2017 - 18. (Figures for 2018 - 19 will not be available until later in 2019). This should be recognised 
as a very positive achievement for Doncaster. 
 

 Number of Children 
 31 March 2018 

Number of Children    
 31 March 2019 

Interim Care Order 99 106 
Full Care Order 331 317 
Placement order granted 39 33 
Remanded to Local Authority accommodation or to Youth 
Detention 1 0 

Under police protection and in local authority accommodation 2 0 
Under Child Assessment Order in local authority accommodation 0 1 
Single period of accommodation under Section 20 97 77 
Accommodated with breaks (no care episodes recorded) 1 0 
Total 570 534 

 
Table 6:  Legal Status of children in care 
 
Much work has being undertaken by a Children in Care Strategic group within DCST which is a collaboration of all the 
relevant services in the Trust and the Doncaster Council’s Virtual School for Children in Care.  This group has been 
reviewing cases and identifying children who can be brought back to local placements from placements out of 
authority and children who can leave care safely with the right support through Child Arrangement Orders or Special 
Guardianship Orders. Through the reviewing process no children have been identified who should not have been 
placed in care. 
 
The number of children being cared for by family or connected people has seen a significant increase. This identifies 
that social workers are effectively identifying more family members, both within and outside Doncaster, who can 
safely care for children. This has ensured that many children have, following appropriate assessment, been able to 
remain with family members or friends and do not require the protection of a formal looked after status.  
  

2017-18 2018-19 
Adopted – application unopposed 19 24 
Adopted - consent dispensed with 12 16 
Left care to live with parents, relatives, or other person with no parental responsibility  0 6 
Accommodation on remand ended 0 1 
Moved abroad  0 1 
Care taken over by another LA in the UK 0 2 
Returned home - Residence order 5 7 
Special guardianship order made to former foster carers 11 20 
Special guardianship order made to carers other than former foster carers 19 21 
Return home to live with parents, relatives, or other person with parental responsibility 
as part of the care planning process (not under a Residence Order or Special Guardianship 
Order) 

31 28 

Return home to live with parents, relatives, or other person with parental responsibility 
which was not part of the current care planning process (not under a Residence Order or 
Special Guardianship Order) 

10 12 

Independent arrangement with formalised support 8 4 
Transferred to adult social services 5 2 
CLA ceased for any other reason 73 100 
Sentenced to custody 2 1 
Total 195 245 

 
Table 7:  Reason for children Ceasing Care 

Page 31



 

19 
 

Children who are Privately Fostered 
 
Private fostering is an arrangement made by a child’s parents for a child under the age of 16 (or under 18 if the young 
person disabled) to be cared for by someone other than a parent or close relative with the intention that it should 
last for 28 days or more.  
  
Children’s social care has a responsibility under the Children (Private Arrangements for Fostering) Regulations 2005 
for ensuring that the welfare of privately fostered children is promoted and safeguarded. Each child known to be 
living in a private fostering arrangement in Doncaster is monitored and supported through statutory visits by a social 
worker. The child is required to be seen alone during each visit unless this is thought to be inappropriate in which 
case the social worker would record the reasons for not seeing the child alone. 
 
DCSP receives an annual report from DCST on the arrangements for privately fostered children, which has provided 
the following data for 2018-19: 
 
• 9 new private fostering notifications were received. 
• 5 notifications did not progress to full assessment. 
• 4 notifications progressed to full assessment. 
• 6 arrangements ended. 

 
A wide variety of awareness raising activity has taken place across the year, for social care staff, with partner agencies 
and with community groups. In particular a private fostering awareness raising week was held between 3rd and 7th 
July 2018.  The awareness raising and publicity activities were targeted towards the public, professionals working 
with children and young people and adults, communities including Faith and Culture groups.   Work included leaflets 
being given out through the Doncaster Safeguarding Week at different locations within Doncaster, including an 
awareness event at Lakeside, and similar information being disseminated via social media. 
 
It is to be acknowledged that notification has remained very low with no evidence of referrals made by parents or 
carers.  Although low notification appears to be a national issue, the challenge is to uncover the hidden private 
fostering arrangements, as the children living in those unknown arrangements are particularly vulnerable and lack 
the protection provided through the private fostering regulations. 
 

 

Children Missing from Home and Care 
 
Safeguarding Partnerships are required to work within the Statutory guidance on children who run away or go 
missing from home or care (Department for Education, January 2014), with partners from children’s social care, 
police, health, education and other services work effectively together through a local protocol to prevent children 
from going missing and to act when they do go missing . The local protocol covers South Yorkshire, as South Yorkshire 
Police are a key agency receiving all reports of missing children. 
 
When a child is located safe and well checks are undertaken by Police Missing Persons Investigators, and an approach 
to the young person is made by a Children’s Trust officer to undertake a return home interview. There is close liaison 
with the Child Exploitation Team (regarding possible sexual and criminal exploitation), and Return Home interviews 
now include assessment of the risk of criminal exploitation. Although only a few cases of CE have been identified (3% 
of return home interviews), this is an important opportunity and has led to significant new disclosures. 
 
For missing children or young people subject to Child Protection Plan or are Looked After, daily notifications are sent 
to their Conference or Review Chair for additional scrutiny. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

20 
 

 Number % 
Missing/absent episodes 1456 100% 
• from home 829 57% 
• from care placed by Doncaster 395 27% 
• from care placed by other Local Authority 232 16% 
   
Children with missing or absent 898 100% 
• from home 614 69% 
• from care placed by Doncaster 165 18% 
• from care placed by other Local Authority 119 13% 
   
Return home interviews  - required 1007 100% 
• offered  997  99% 
• carried out  564 56% 
• refused or non-co-operation  332 33% 

 
Table 8:  Children missing from home and care 2018–19 
 
The South Yorkshire Police (SYP) Board representative has raised a number of concerns regarding children from other 
areas who are living in independent children’s homes in Doncaster. These missing from home cases involve some of 
the most vulnerable children and the demand on the Police force to keep them safe has been very significant. SYP 
have engaged children’s homes managers in the area in a monthly meeting discuss any issues, policies, procedures 
and what can be done collectively. Ofsted have also been invited to attend.  The outcome has been extremely 
positive, with a significant reduction. A Memorandum of Understanding is being drawn up for all local children’s 
homes to sign up to, and an approach is being made to the Independent Children’s Homes Association who represent 
the majority of homes across the country. 

 
 

Allegations against people who work with children  
 
The role of the LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) is to have management and oversight of allegations of 
abuse against people that work with children and covers all persons working within the children’s workforce in either 
a paid or an unpaid capacity including volunteers.  This includes providing advice and guidance to employers and 
voluntary organisations, liaising with the police and other agencies and monitoring the progress of cases to ensure 
they are dealt with as quickly as possible, consistent with a thorough and fair process.  
 
In Doncaster the LADO service is part of the Safeguarding, Standards and Policy Unit of Doncaster Children’s Services 
Trust. 
 
Work has continued to raise the awareness of the LADO role across a number of agencies and voluntary 
organisations. In order to reduce the number of consultations that are not pertinent to the LADO process, work has 
also been undertaken with the safeguarding leads for a number of agencies so that they provide the first port of call 
for advice within their own organisations. This has resulted in a decrease in referrals that do not meet the threshold 
by 7.3%. When compared to 2017/18. The number of referrals that do meet the threshold to hold a strategy meeting 
has increased by 3.13%. The main area of increase has been independent fostering agencies that rose by 56%. The 
may be due to the work undertaken to raise awareness and the training provided to these organisations by the LADO. 
 
 

Page 33



 

21 
 

 
 
Figure 9:  Referrals to the Local Authority Designated Officer 
 
In the majority of cases the allegation was substantiated indicating that referrals are generally appropriately made 
and thresholds for referral to the LADO are understood. The LADO process is focused on the original allegation that 
was made. Although the outcome may be substantiated it does not necessarily mean that the accused adult poses 
an ongoing risk to children. 
 
The LADO works closely with the adult safeguarding team to ensure the right service area is dealing with safeguarding 
allegations whether this involves children or adults at risk of harm.  
 
 

Child Death Reviews 
 
During 2018-19 there were 13 child deaths: 
 
• 6 were expected, for example, due to life-limiting illness. 
• 7 were unexpected, that is, they were not anticipated as a significant possibility 24 hours before the death. 

 
 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
Expected child deaths 12 12 6 
Unexpected child deaths 5 12 7 
Total child deaths 17 24 13 

 
Table 9:  Number of child deaths in Doncaster by year 
 
12 child deaths were reviewed in 2018-19, all of which were carried over from the previous year (this is not 
uncommon as child deaths are often delayed for example by waiting for a Coroner’s report). 
 
In reviewing the death of each child, the CDOP should consider modifiable factors, for example, in the family 
environment, parenting capacity or service provision, and consider what action could be taken locally and what 
action could be taken at a regional or national level. Factors identified as modifiable does not mean the factors fully 
explain the child death and does not indicate any implication of blame on any individual party, but they are 
considered to be contributing factors. 
 
Modifiable factors and learning points arising from reviewed cases included: 
 
• Smoking by either parent during mother’s pregnancy  
• Body Mass Index of mother 
• Co-sleeping and parental compliance advice 
• Internet safety and online information regarding self-harm 
• Low birth weight of baby 
• Delay in seeking medical attention by parents 
• Prophylactic antibiotics 
• Chorioamnionitis  

Page 34



 

22 
 

This led to recommendations for action to be taken in relation to: 
 
• Health staff training regarding safe sleeping and alcohol use, and smoking in pregnancy 
• Young people’s safe user use of the internet 
• Cervical examination 
 
Doncaster CDOP did not conclude that a serious case review should be carried out on any of the cases that were 
considered during 2018-19. 
 
Significant progress has been made in meeting the requirements of Working Together 2018. The four South Yorkshire 
areas have collaborated to strengthen the existing shared learning forum that took place quarterly. This has involved 
developing a Memorandum of Understanding, Terms of Reference and Child Death Arrangements which was 
published jointly. The arrangements have been signed by the Child Death partners in each area i.e. the Local 
Authority and CCG demonstrating good partnership working. The governance arrangements are being reviewed for 
Doncaster CDOP with the aim of transferring responsibility over to the Health and Well Being Board via the Children 
and Young people’s Partnership.  

 
 

Progress against Strategic Priorities 2018 - 2019 
 
Strategic Priority 1 - DSCP is assured that effective arrangements are in place for responding to key safeguarding 
risks and that there is consistently good practice across safeguarding services. 
 
The early help strategy is effectively implemented and there is evidence of the impact this has had on outcomes 
for children, young people and their families. 
 
• See Early Help section above. 
• Doncaster Early Help has adopted the Outcome Star, an evidence-based tool to support and measure change 

in specific outcome domains of a child and family’s life, hence the overall impact of the Early Help 
intervention. Multi- agency training is on-going, and there is significant progress made in the use of Outcome 
Star over the past year, for example, with 452 Outcome Stars being completed in Quarter 3.  
 

DSCP thresholds are understood by practitioners and are embedded in practice. 
 
• The thresholds for responses to different levels of need are set out in DSCP Multi-Agency Levels of Need 

document published on its website. This aims to clarify the circumstances which will require referral to a 
specific agency to address an individual need, when to carry out an early help enquiry and when to refer to 
Children’s Social Care Services where a child or young person is thought to be at risk of harm, either actual or 
likely. Practitioners across partner agencies are acquainted with this framework through the DSCP’s multi-
agency retraining programme. 

• A report from the All Party Parliamentary group for Children titled Storing Up Trouble (July 2018) highlighted, 
thresholds for access to children’s services are not uniformly applied across the country, and there may be 
different perceptions of the application of thresholds within a local authority area. This is an area of policy 
and practice that needs ongoing attention. 

• The procedure for referring concerns into the Multi-Agency Access Point (MAAP) requires referrers to 
distinguish contacts for Early Help (level 3 in the Levels of Need) or Children’s Social Care including 
safeguarding (level 4). The MAAP Team report that only a small number of contacts received for children’s 
social care are re-routed to Early Help, and even fewer are re-assigned from Early Help to Children’s Social 
Care. Generally there are few disputes over threshold decisions made by MAAP. This indicates that the multi-
agency levels of need thresholds are generally understood by practitioners in partner agencies. 

• However, in early 2018, the Neglect Strategy Group commissioned an analysis of child in need cases where 
neglect is a predominant factor of concern and there is no evidence of early help provision. This concluded 
that there remained some confusion as to what is a universal service provision and what constitutes early 
help, and when it is appropriate to refer to children’s social care. These findings are being taken on to the 
Early Help Strategic Group, and have also influenced the setting up of a Neglect Operational Group reporting 
to the Neglect Strategy Group. 

 
  

Page 35



 

23 
 

Systems are in place to effectively meet the needs of victims of child exploitation, including an understanding of 
the scope of criminal exploitation and online abuse 
 
• A Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy 2017-2019 and Action Plan is overseen by a Child Exploitation and Missing 

(strategy) Sub Group, chaired by a senior Police Officer who is a member of the Partnership Board. 
• The multi-agency CSE team hosted by DCST consists of 3 social work posts, one health, one education worker 

and 2 Barnardo’s workers co–located with specialist police officer colleagues and 2 Missing Persons 
Investigators.  Being co-located means that information can be shared in a timely way and responding to 
concerns can be undertaken quickly.  

• Many of the issues around Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) apply equally to Child Criminal Exploitation. In 
recognition of this the operational (multi-agency) Child Sexual Exploitation Team has widened its remit and 
become the Child Exploitation Team. The investigation of exploitation has improved as there is now a Single 
Point of Contact (SPOC) officer working within the Police’s Protection Vulnerable People department who is 
supported by 2 co-ordinating support officers. 

• The Industry Sector Group has worked hard to train taxi drivers, private landlords and hoteliers, to raise 
awareness of the signs and indicators of exploitation, and how to report. 

• Some young people, whilst recognising that they are being exploited, are too afraid to cease their involvement 
for fear of reprisals from other gang members. Some young people can only be safely supported out of 
involvement in CCE if they and their families are helped to move away from where they currently live. 

• South Yorkshire Police report that during 2018 – 19, there were 10,847 Non-Crime Investigations recorded 
across South Yorkshire, of which 322 had the keyword ‘CSE’ applied to investigation records, 17 of these being 
within Doncaster. 

• South Yorkshire Police also report that of the 5809 violent crimes with a victim under 18 years old, there were 
32 investigations where the keyword ‘CSE’ had been applied to records. The predominant offence was 
‘arranging or facilitating travel of another person with a view to exploitation.’ 

 
The DSCP is assured of the effectiveness of plans to tackle Domestic abuse. 
 
Domestic abuse remains a significant issue of concern for interventions at all levels: 
 

Early Help Monthly average 2018-19 
Early Help Open Cases 2366 
• Early Help Open Cases with Domestic Abuse 229 
• with Domestic Abuse and a Risk Assessment 4 

    
Children's social Care   
Social Care Open Cases with an assessment 1901 
• with Domestic Abuse 442 
• with Domestic Abuse and a Risk Assessment 321 
• with Domestic Abuse and a DAN allocated 29 
• with "No" Domestic Abuse and a DAN allocated 23 

  
Child in Need open Cases with Domestic Abuse 253 
Child Protection Plan open Cases with Domestic Abuse 123 
Children Looked After open Cases with Domestic Abuse 61 
Dual CPP & CLA open Cases with Domestic Abuse 4 

 
Table 10:  Monthly average 2018-19 open Cases where Domestic Abuse is a feature  
 
• Doncaster’s Domestic and Sexual Abuse Partnership has a multi-agency Domestic Abuse Strategy 2017 - 2121 

that aims to protect and support victims, holding abusers to account through support and challenge, and grow 
futures for children and young people through prevention and recovery. A key outcome is for families who 
are vulnerable to or experience domestic abuse are identified earlier and receive effective support to stay 
safe. 

• The Domestic and Sexual Abuse Partnership Production of a new sexual abuse strategy and action plan, and 
a new domestic abuse action plan. 

• DCST has recruited a team of Domestic Abuse Navigators (DANs) to tackle cases involving domestic abuse. 
They apply a whole family model of practice, working with victims, perpetrators and children. Support to 
children & young people is informed by the latest evidence-based therapeutic techniques. They have been so 

Page 36



 

24 
 

effective that no families have been re-referred after working with them. This will have a positive impact on 
the outcomes of all those they support. 

• Doncaster Council has provided a range of Domestic Abuse training, open to other agencies: 
o Domestic Abuse Awareness  
o DASH Risk Assessment and MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences) 
o Stalking and Harassment  
o Young People Experiencing Intimate Partner Violence  
o Coercive and Controlling Behaviour  
o Honour Abuse, Forced Marriage and Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) -  
o Supporting Male Victims of Domestic Abuse  
o Supporting Children Living with Domestic Abuse (primary age)  

 
1,160 practitioners in Doncaster attended multi agency domestic abuse training. 
 
Doncaster Domestic and Sexual Abuse Partnership have also reported on the following achievements for 2018:  
 
• The MARAC and IDVA service supported 372 victims at high risk of serious harm or death. 
• The Domestic Abuse Caseworkers at Doncaster Council provided direct support, advice or information to 

1,146 people throughout 2018. 
• 1,160 practitioners in Doncaster attended multi agency domestic abuse training. 
• Doncaster Children's Services Trust launched a new programme for young people who are abusive towards 

their parents/carers - called 'Getting On'.  
• The Trust also launched a new Caring Dads programme so that fathers who abuse can be supported to 

recognise the value of responsible parenting and measure impact on change. 
• South Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company launched a new voluntary perpetrator programme. 
• 924 victims of sexual abuse were supported by Doncaster Rape and Sexual Abuse Counselling Service 

(DRASACS). 
• New training courses on coercive and controlling behaviour and stalking were launched. 
• The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government awarded Doncaster Council and partners 

£98,000 to support victims of domestic abuse. 
• Work started on a new Domestic Abuse Hub with co-located Police and Independent Domestic Abuse Advisors 

as part of the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). which This will increase capacity, allows for much 
better information sharing for more complex cases and make it easier for victims and practitioners to access 
services. 

 
Practitioners are able to respond appropriately to the early signs of Neglect and evidenced through multi-agency 
audits 
 
• Neglect is a persistent failure to meet a child’s physical and / or psychological needs and which is likely to 

result in the serious impairment of the child’s health and development.  
• DSCP has developed a Neglect Strategy (2016) aiming to ensure the early recognition of neglect and improved 

responses to it by all agencies, so that life changes of children are promptly improved and the risk of harm is 
reduced. This is led by a Neglect Strategic Group, which is part of the Team Doncaster Children and Young 
People’s Partnership. 

• A key part of the strategy is a Neglect Toolkit: Tool for the assessment of Neglect, adapted from The Graded 
Care profile designed by Dr Leon Polnay and Dr O P Srivastava, Bedfordshire and Luton Community NHS Trust. 
As there has been limited use of this tool, the Neglect Strategy Group is considering rebranding and 
relaunching. 

• Use of the Neglect toolkit within Early Help cases has increased from 3% in July 2018 to 30% Q4 2018-19. 
• In early 2018, the Neglect Strategy Group commissioned an analysis of child in need cases where neglect is a 

predominant factor of concern and there is no evidence of early help provision. This concluded that there 
remained confusion as to what is a universal service provision and what constitutes early help, and when it is 
appropriate to refer to children’s social care.  

• DSCP provides training entitled Childhood Neglect - Recognition and Multi-Agency Response. 
 

  

Page 37



 

25 
 

Services are in place to support young people’s mental health and the impact of these services can be seen in a 
reduction of hospital admissions for self-harm and attempted suicide 
 
• There have been two child deaths as a result of suicide and at least two incidents that could be described as 

near misses that have come to the attention of the DSCP. Each case is sensitively responded to by well-
established local child death arrangements and a number of cases were referred to the DSCP Case Review 
Group and learning reviews have taken place. Doncaster also has a Suicide Prevention Group and a suicide 
prevention action plan. In addition, contagion concerns have been a factor in two of the suicides and protocols 
for responding in these situations do not yet appear to be well embedded in practice. The DSCP Case Review 
Group has signed off revisions to the contagion protocol. 

• For general hospital inpatient emergency admissions for self-harm, there has also been a decreasing trend 
throughout the 4 years. There were 130 self-harm admissions in 2015/16 and the number has decreased to 
112 in 2018/19.  

• There continues to be improvements to children and young people's mental health as reflected in the 
reduction in T4 acute in-patient admissions and hospital admissions for self-harm. The rationale is largely due 
to improvements made within the Local Transformation Plan, in particular the introduction and support 
offered by the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Intensive Home Treatment Service.  

• In addition, each primary and secondary school in Doncaster has an allocated CAMHS locality worker who 
provides consultation, support and specialist CAMHS knowledge/ intervention. From September 2018- March 
2019 the team collectively completed 1,921 consultations (planned and unplanned) with school staff and 
families. Of those consultations, 22 young people were stepped into specialist CAMHS pathways, thus 
evidencing the transformative and successful move towards reducing the number of children and young 
people accessing specialist CAMHs due to increasing our service offer in relation to early intervention and 
prevention. 

 
The DSCP is assured that services provided to support children with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) are effectively safeguarding the children they support. 
 
• This are of safeguarding practice has not received attention during 2018 – 19, though there have been 

preparations for an Ofsted/Care Quality Commission inspection of local areas’ effectiveness in identifying and 
meeting the needs of SEND children and young people which took place in May 2019. 

 
There is a plan in place to address the issues raised as a result of children being placed in Doncaster by external 
Local Authorities 
 
• South Yorkshire Police (SYP) have raised a number of concerns regarding children from other areas who are 

living in independent children’s homes in Doncaster. These missing from home cases involve some of the 
most vulnerable children and the demand on the Police force to keep them safe has been very significant. SYP 
have engaged children’s homes managers in the area in a monthly meeting discuss any issues, policies, 
procedures and what can be done collectively. Ofsted have also been invited to attend.  The outcome has 
been extremely positive, with a significant reduction. A Memorandum of Understanding is being drawn up 
for all local children’s homes to sign up to, and an approach is being made to the Independent Children’s 
Homes Association who represent the majority of homes across the country. 

 
Strategic Priority 2 - SP2 DSCP has a clear understanding of the effectiveness of the safeguarding system in 
Doncaster and can evidence how this is used to influence the Boards priorities 
 
DSCP data set provides the Board with appropriate information to enable it to identify the key safeguarding issues 
in Doncaster 
 
• The Quality & Performance Sub-Group continues to explore the use of data and intelligence to inform the 

Partnership Board about the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements, in response to the publication of 
the national statutory guidance Working Together 2018. A revised data set and reporting process has been 
agreed and will be implemented during 2019 - 20. 
 

DSCP disseminates the lessons from case reviews, audits and complaints to practitioners and can evidence the 
impact this has had on practice 
 
• There have been capacity issues within the DCSP’s Business Unit, and as a result there has not been the 

resource to undertake multi-agency audits. However, learning from the previous year’s audits have continued 

Page 38



 

26 
 

to be disseminated in the form of practice briefings. Also, preparations were made for an audit of cases of 
child sexual abuse conducted in the first quarter of 2019-20 using the methodology from the Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection (JTAI). Lessons from the use of the JTAI methodology will inform the future quarterly DSCP 
auditing programme. 

• No cases were referred to the Serious Case Review Panel.  
• During 2018 – 2019, DSCP has responded to the publication of Working Together 2018 and the transitional 

arrangements in preparing to work with the National Panel for safeguarding child practice reviews (replacing 
serious case reviews). The DSCP Case Review Group will now oversee a rapid review of any case meeting the 
criteria for a ‘serious child safeguarding case’. They will also notify the National Panel of the rapid review 
outcome and any decision for a local child safeguarding practice review is appropriate, or whether they think 
the case may raise issues which are complex or of national importance such that a national review may be 
appropriate. 

• No cases were referred to the DSCP Case Review Group that met the criteria for notification to the National 
Panel.  

• Following a Learning Lessons Review for a four-year old child T, a practice briefing was issued advising 
practitioners to negotiate with parents to check on the conditions in a child’s bedroom, and also not to assume 
that other agencies would have already done this. 

• Following another Learning Lessons Review, a practice briefing was produced and disseminated to promote 
the use of the DSCB “resolving professional differences protocol.” 

• Other Practice Briefing focused on Early Help Assessment and communication with siblings in specialist foster 
placement. 

• Complaints Officer for Doncaster Children’s Services Trust has reported that no issues arising from complaints 
had needed to be escalated to the DSCP or disseminated across the partnership for learning.  

• The DMBC Education Service (Learning Standards and Effectiveness) handles all Ofsted complaints related to 
schools, and where these may have a safeguarding component there is close working with Learning and 
Opportunities: Children and Young People Safeguarding Manager. The Safeguarding Manager works closely 
with schools’ designated safeguarding leads, and disseminates communications from the DSCP. 

 
DSCP members have an understanding of the issues affecting front-line practitioners and can evidence how this 
has influenced the development of services 
 
• Partnership Board meetings receive reports on data, intelligence, and audits from the Quality and 

Performance Sub-group, and case review learning from the Case Review Group. 
• The Case Review Group’s Learning Lessons Review promotes the participation of frontline practitioners and 

provides the DSCP with a detailed insight into issues and experiences in safeguarding casework. The Practice 
Briefings mentioned above are examples of the output of this process. 

• The DCSP’s Safeguarding Practitioner Forum meets quarterly and is well attended by the multi-agency 
workforce. It is chaired by the DCSP Independent Chair, so facilitates issues and perspectives from frontline 
staff to be input directly into DSCP’s business.  

• DSCP two multi agency conferences in 2018-19.  
• Keeping children Safe Online was very well received with a total of 180 people in attendance. There was a key 

note speech from national campaigner Jim Gamble, and dramatic performance from Narelle Summers and 
Ian Baxter highlighting the key issues from a serious case review.  

• The conference “Towards a Deeper understanding of Domestic Abuse was also well received, featuring 
presentations on Honour Based Abuse from Suzanne Jackson DI, SYP, and young adult Natasha K Benjamin 
reflecting on her experiences of witnessing family violence.  

 
Strategic Priority 3 - DSCP communicates effectively to ensure that the work of the Board is well publicised, that 
learning is disseminated and that the voice of children, young people, practitioners and the wider 
community(including minority groups and faith groups)  are able to influence the Board’s work. 
 
a) Partners demonstrate how they are communicating with children and young people and how this influences 

service provision: 
• Safeguarding partner agencies have responsibilities under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 as 

detailed Working Together (2015 and 2018) chapter 2 Organisational Responsibilities. This includes 
having ‘a culture of listening to children and taking account of their wishes and feelings, both in 
individual decisions and the development of services.’ The last section 11 audit was carried out in 2017 
– 18 and was reported on in the last Annual Report. Current plans for the section 11 audit, including 
reporting on the culture of listening to children,’ are to move to an online reporting system during 
2019-20. 

Page 39



 

27 
 

• Doncaster Children’s Services Trust has made extensive use of young advisors since its inception, with 
involvement for example in Trust recruitment, set-up of children’s homes and providing training on 
the experience of children in care. In addition, there is a Children in Care Council, and a Speak Out Loud 
activity group for children in need and on Child Protection Plans, both of which provide good 
opportunities for consultation and involvement in the development of safeguarding practice. 

• Doncaster Council’s Local Office of the Children’s Commissioner has also recently employed 10 young 
advisors to consult with other children and young people – particularly those considered ‘harder to 
reach’ - on service and practice developments. 

b) DSCP ensures community groups such as Faith and cultural groups and sports clubs understand safeguarding 
issues and can demonstrate that they have key safeguarding standards in place as identified by the DSCP 
• Engagement with the voluntary and faith and culture sectors further developed into the Keeping Safe 

Forum, to ensure that the sector is well represented in the Forum which serves as a voice and influence 
sub-group for both the Adult and Children’s Boards.  

• Community, faith and cultural groups and sports clubs are also invited to DSCP training events and 
conferences. 

c) DSCP partners demonstrate how they are ensuring that the children’s workforce is appropriately trained 
• DSCP partner agencies will be providing evidence of compliance with this duty in future section 11 

audits.  
• DSCP partners are expected to make use of the DSCP multi-agency training programme and resources, 

or provide or commission their own single-agency safeguarding training. 
 
Strategic Priority 4 - DSCP is aware of emerging issues which have implications across the partnership and works 
effectively to ensure appropriate action is taken. 
 
The DSCP has in place arrangements to safeguard children in line with the requirements of the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017. 
• Consultation and development work took place during 2018 to develop structures compliant with the Children 

and Social Work Act’s statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, and at the same time 
to develop a closer relationship with Doncaster Safeguarding Adults Board and the Safer Stronger Doncaster 
Partnership. The new local arrangements – replacing Doncaster’s Local Safeguarding Children Board with 
Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) is published in June 2019 and is available on the DSCP 
website https://dscp.org.uk/ 

 
DSCP promotes opportunities for working across geographical areas where this would provide a more cost-
effective response or improvement to current working arrangements 
 
• Doncaster is part of the South Yorkshire sub-region, a natural area for cross area working as it is the footprint 

for the Police Service. 
• The Child Death Overview Panel, formerly the responsibility of the Local Safeguarding Children Board, is 

developing arrangements for new operations across South Yorkshire so that learning from child deaths is 
based on a larger sample size. 

• Doncaster has also contributed to the work of a sub-regional Child Criminal Exploitation Group with 
neighbouring local authorities. 
 

DSCP promotes opportunities for working with other strategic partnerships where this would provide a more cost-
effective response or improvement to current working arrangements 
 
• As part of the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements, a Chief Officers Safeguarding Oversight Group 

takes a broad view of the cross-working and co-ordination of Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership, 
Doncaster Safeguarding Adults Board, and Safer Stronger Doncaster Partnership (community safety). 

• DSCP has recognised many common themes shared with Doncaster Safeguarding Adults Board. Under new 
arrangements brought in in response to the Children and Social Work Act, both partnerships now meet on 
the same day, with joint as well as separate agendas and the same convenor. It is expected that this will allow 
for the emergence of further joint areas of concern and action. Both safeguarding partnership have also 
worked together on an annual safeguarding fortnight, with activities and communications to raise awareness 
about safeguarding and protection issues with the general public and professionals. 

• DSCP is working closely with Safer Stronger Doncaster Partnership on the nationally emerging issue of child 
criminal exploitation, sharing a joint Child Exploitation strategic group. 

• DCSP is has a close working relationship with the Children and Young People Partnership around strategies 
for Early Help and for Neglect.  

Page 40

https://dscp.org.uk/


 

28 
 

• During 2019-20, priorities will be to also develop awareness and practice in relation to young people’s online 
identities and on-line safety.  

• Further development in the area of contextual safeguarding issues and transitional safeguarding, particularly 
picking up the link with the Doncaster Place plan theme around vulnerable adolescents.  

 
 

Workforce Development 
 
The Board has a strong commitment to multi-agency training and continues to invest in developing a multi-agency 
training pool to assist with delivery. The DSCP training programme covers a wide range of safeguarding issues based 
on a training needs analysis of the Partnership’s priorities and the demands of partner agencies. Individual training 
places are provided at no charge, the programme being funded by annual partner contributions to the DSCP. 
 

 Places Attendance 
Delivering Early Help :Role of the Lead Practitioners (2) 328 191 
Introduction to Early Help and Thresholds for Intervention 809 610 
Child Exploitation (CSE+ CCE Included) 314 198 
Signs of Safety 2-Day 117 60 
DSCB Neglect Strategy and Toolkit 274 195 
DSCB Spring Conference- Keeping Children Safe Online 190 116 
An Overview of the Typologies of Domestic Abuse 60 20 
Early Help Outcomes and Plans and Closures (3) 250 101 
Signs of Safety Roadshows 460 261 
Signs of Safety 3 Day Practice Champion Training 12 3 
Childhood Neglect: Recognition and the Multi Agency Response 150 67 
Issues raised by men who sexually offend against children 120 37 
Understanding the complexities of Domestic Abuse 280 16 
Children and Young People with sexually harmful behaviour 48 19 
Managing Allegations Against Professionals - Local Authority Designated Officer 50 12 
An Introduction to 'Getting On' Programme 60 11 
DSCB Autumn Conference - Understanding Domestic Abuse 190 149 
Early Help Supervision 60 13 
Engaging the Abusive Parent 30 10 
A Tension of Services: Domestic Abuse and the Three Planets Model 30 3 
Self-Harm & Suicide Awareness 31 25 
Total 3863 2117 

 
Table 11:  DSCP Training programme sessions 2018-19 
This represents a sizable contribution to workforce development across the partnership, and as attendance is multi-
agency, the programme also supports the development of good working relationships between frontline 
practitioners across agencies. 
 
 

Page 41



 

29 
 

All DSCP courses are evaluated via online surveys for participants’ perceptions of the potential impact on practice. Some sections of the evaluation data is included 
below: 

 

 
 

Figure 9:  Evaluation returns from DSCP training sessions 2018 - 19 

P
age 42



 

30 
 

 
 
 Figure 11: Evaluation returns from DSCP training sessions 2018 - 19 

 
 Analysis of impact on practice sometime after training has not been feasible due to capacity, but remains an aspiration for DSCP.

P
age 43



 

31 
 

Independent Convenor’s Review of the Effectiveness of Partnership Working 
 

The most significant change to happen during the year has been the developments of new partnership 
arrangements for the overview and governance of the Safeguarding Children Partnership.  This has 
resulted in much more streamlined arrangements being established that include recognising and 
harnessing the close relationship with safeguarding adults arrangements.  The objective of establishing 
these new arrangements was to improve the governance of partnership working whilst making the 
process less onerous and more efficient for the partners.  These changes risked losing or alienating those 
outside the core partnership Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council, Doncaster Children’s Services 
Trust, South Yorkshire Police and Doncaster CCG.  However other arrangements that were put in place, 
as part of the changes, to support wider partnership engagement appear to have worked reasonably well.  
However this is something that I will keep under review. 
 
I am the Independent Convenor of the newly established Doncaster Safeguarding Children Partnership.  
My roles include ensuring that the partners meet their statutory responsibilities and work together in an 
effective partnership.  I am pleased to say that these new arrangements appear to be meeting their 
objectives.  I am also pleased to report that I have seen many examples of the partners working together 
effectively.  
 
A particularly good example is the problem of children, placed by other local authorities, missing from 
small private children’s homes.  In addition to placing vulnerable children at risk this problem was having 
a significant impact on police service resources, but it became clear that this population also impacted 
the provision of other services.  South Yorkshire Police (SYP) led the response to this risk.  Rapid reductions 
in the number of missing children were achieved following SYP developing partnership arrangements with 
these small organisations.  Furthermore a more strategic approach was established using the planning 
powers of the local authority, a good example of a system led approach. 
 
Another important realisation was the importance of building 'learning loops’ into cross-agency 
procedures when, almost by accident, the power of feedback led to a significant improvement in practical 
processes for safeguarding. 
 
I have also been impressed by the increasing focus on prevention, including helping children and families 
avoid the need for formal safeguarding interventions.  Not only is this very desirable from the point of 
view of child wellbeing but it is also a more efficient way of safeguarding children.  However there is a risk 
that the increased effectiveness of these approaches will lead to complacency and disinvestment of the 
services that are achieving the desired improvements. 
 
I welcome the change in policy that has led to children of families where there is domestic abuse having 
their needs recorded as emotional abuse rather than neglect.  Not only is this way of clarifying harm more 
meaningful it also lays the ground for addressing the main impact of domestic abuse on children which is 
not just distress but also long-term emotional and psychological dysfunction which too often results in 
frank mental health problems.  There is early work ongoing, led by the Director of Public Health, on 
reducing ‘adverse childhood experiences’ which are understood to be the mechanism by which the harm 
has its effect.  This work was initiated through the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board, and is a good 
example of how the shared issues that cross children and adult safeguarding are increasingly addressed 
in a more systematic way. 
 
I believe that there is evidence that partners increasingly look to one another when working on strategic 
safeguarding issues.  I see this behaviour, which includes the assumption that challenges are always 
shared across agencies, as particularly positive. 

Page 44



 

32 
 

I am also pleased that the systems that partners have developed for the engagement of safeguarding 
practitioners appear to be working.  Direct contact with those individuals charged with making 
safeguarding work is important in order to keep the work of the Partnership truly child focused. 
 
In addition to the development priorities outlined in the joint safeguarding development plan there is a 
need to ensure that board support arrangements are strengthened.  This may include joint working with 
the support arrangements for the Safeguarding Adults Board.  There is also a need to formalise new 
arrangements for the Child Death Overview Panel arrangements.  It seems to me that this would be best 
achieved over a South Yorkshire footprint. 

 
Dr John Woodhouse (GMC 2959711) 
Independent Convenor

Page 45



 

33 
 

 

P
age 46



 

34 
 

Board Partner Financial Contributions and Expenditure 2018/19 
 
Working Together 2018 states that ‘“The safeguarding partners should agree the level of funding secured from each 
partner, which should be equitable and proportionate, and any contributions from each relevant agency, to support 
the local arrangements. The funding should be transparent to children and families in the area, and sufficient to cover 
all elements of the arrangements, including the cost of local child safeguarding practice reviews”. 
 

Expenditure 2018/19  £ 
Staff costs (including agency worker cost) 191,091 
Independent Chair costs 13,034 
Survey Monkey licence 280 
Virtual College e-learning 9,418 
Display Boards for Safeguarding week 35 
Association of Independent LSCB Chairs membership 1,500 
Tri-X online multi-agency procedures 6,800 
Conference costs and associated costs 9,593 
Performance Fee for DSCAP meeting 500 
Meetings costs - room hire & refreshments  5,482 
Conference room refurbishment 3,500 
Printing & stationery 6,214 
Yorkshire & Humberside Safeguarding Trainers conference fee  125 
British Association for the Study and Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect  164 
Future arrangements for the Board 9,000 
Miscellaneous 19 
    
Total Expenditure 256,755 
    
Income 2018/19   
Doncaster Clinical Commissioning Group 97,880 
South Yorkshire Police 26,000 
Probation Service 1,565 
Doncaster Council 146,930 
    
Total Income 272,375 
Out-turn +15,620 

 
It should also be noted that partner agencies support the DSCP work through ‘in kind’ support, for example the 
commitment of staff time to sub-groups and working groups, use of meeting rooms, and staff joining the training 
pool. In particular, Doncaster Children’s Services Trust hosts the DSCP Business Unit, and in doing so provides in-kind 
support through management and office services. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 

Report 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
                   

To the Chair and Members of the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
YOUTH UPDATE  
 

Relevant Cabinet Member(s) Wards 
Affected 

Key Decision 

Cllr Nuala Fennelly  
Children, Young People and Schools 

All  Yes/No 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on current youth provision across 

the borough, EXPECT Youth and the new Youth Strategy  
 

2. The Education Act 1996 places a legal duty on local authorities to secure “sufficient 
activities” for 13 -19 year olds and young people under 24 with SEND. Over the last 3 
years in Doncaster we have restructured how we deliver on this through a partnership 
model, including the commissioning of EXPECT Youth. Through this approach, 
EXPECT Youth are the convenor of universal youth activity enabling community 
capacity building and innovation. Whilst DMBC retain the responsibility for targeted 
activity including for children and young people with SEND and LGBTQ young people. 
 

3. The report will set out the need for a co-ordinated Youth Strategy, detailing our 
ambition to deliver beyond our statutory duty to secure sufficient positive activities; but 
to expand the diverse range of opportunities for young people, supporting their social 
and personal development, raising aspiration and building resilience. All of which is set 
in the context of our ambition to be the most child friendly borough in the country.  

 

4. In the current Children and Young People’s Plan, we set out our ambition to be the 
most child friendly borough in the country, the framework for this is detailed in the report 
and the Youth Strategy is a key element of delivering on this ambition.  

 
5. In addition, it supplies an update on EXPECT Youth, including:  
 

 The change of governance to EXPECT through its newly assigned charity 
status.  

 The performance indicators underpinning the current grant agreement with 
EXPECT Youth, including the need to increase community capacity and the 

Date:  5th December 2019                           

Page 49

Agenda Item 8.



 
requirement to map and monitor the number of positive engagements with 
children and young people.  

 The future role of EXPECT Youth as the convenor and co-ordinator of universal 
youth provision as detailed in the Youth Strategy.  

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
6. There is no exempt information contained in the report. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7. To consider and comment on the principles of the Youth Strategy, including the 

proposals to extend universal youth provision offered across the borough, in terms of 
the diversity and reach. Ensuring children and young people are supported in their 
social and personal development, building their resilience and raising aspiration. 
Giving all children and young people across the borough the opportunity to widen their 
experiences and access a range of diverse and innovative activities.  

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
8. The Education Act 1996 places a legal duty on local authorities to secure “sufficient 

activities” for 13 -19 year olds and young people under 24 with SEND. Through a 
partnership model, which includes EXPECT Youth and voluntary and community 
groups we fulfil this duty. With Doncaster Council holding the responsibility for targeted 
youth support for children and young people with SEND and LGBTQ young people.   

 
9. Through this approach, and delivery against a co-ordinated Youth Strategy we will 

continue to strengthen our youth offer for children and young people in Doncaster that 
delivers:  

 

 A co-ordinated approach to the delivery of a youth provision across the 
borough. 

 Accessible information in the form of a ‘What’s going on’ for young people. 

 New initiatives and innovation programmes for young people in response to 
what they have told us.  

 A rich and diverse youth offer for young people ranging from social engagement 
to social enterprise. 

 A system that can mobilise into areas of need and respond to the views of 
children and young people.  

 Where needed a targeted programme of activity for some of most vulnerable 
children and young people. 

  
10. In addition, the Children and Young People's Plan 2017-2020 set out our ambition to 

become the most child friendly borough. The Youth Strategy will support the delivery 
of this ambition.  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
11. Over recent years, we have seen a reduction in the number of council run youth 

services, however the decision in 2016 to develop a youth alliance, now named 
EXPECT Youth, to be the new delivery model for universal youth services has meant 
that in Doncaster we have seen an increase in youth activities. This is due to 

Page 50



 
considerable work with the voluntary and community sector to ensure there is capacity 
across the whole of the system and volunteers and groups feel supported and well 
trained. In addition, Doncaster Council continues to hold responsibility for targeted 
youth support for children and young people with SEND and LGBTQ young people.   

 
12. Although there has been success through the new delivery model, it has been 

recognised that there has been no one strategy driving this work forward or a 
framework to ensure the partnership are working to shared priorities and aims. 

  
13. The Doncaster Youth Strategy will serve as the strategic driver for all youth policy and 

will ensure that the youth offer for all young people in Doncaster is robust, consistent 
and meets the needs of all our young people.  

 
14. In order to ensure that the strategy does what we need it to do we need to understand 

the national and local strategic framework surrounding youth services.   
 
15. As detailed above the Education Act 1996 places a legal duty on local authorities to 

secure sufficient activities for young people. The act however does not state how this 
should be delivered.  

 
16. In addition, while there is no government strategy or over-arching policy dedicated to 

young people, over recent years there has been a move to address this. The 2018 Civil 
Society Strategy included ‘opportunities for young people’ as one of three ‘missions’ to 
enable a lifetime of contribution by citizens. This focuses on empowering young people 
to take part in and influence decision-making and to become socially responsible, with 
an additional focus on supporting disadvantaged young people to take advantage of 
the opportunities available to them. The strategy also commits the Government to a 
review of the statutory guidance on the youth services duty, which should be published 
later this year.  

  
17. Added to this, last year saw the publication of the All Party Parliamentary Group Youth 

Work Enquiry. This set out a number of recommendations in relation to the delivery of 
youth services including; the need for the government to introduce a clear statutory 
duty and guidance that defines a minimum and protected level of youth service and 
the need to develop a workforce strategy for youth workers, trainees and volunteers.  

 
18. There are also a number of key strategies, locally, that set the landscape for an 

overarching Youth Strategy, such as Doncaster Growing Together, the Education and 
Skills Framework 2030 and the Emotional Health and Wellbeing Trailblazer. The 
crucial local policy driver for the strategy is the current Children and Young People's 
Plan. In this, we set out our ambition to be the most child friendly borough in the 
country. This ambition will be delivered against a framework of eight priorities areas.  

 
1. Connecting Young People & Doncaster 

 
A child friendly borough ensures that children and young people have access to 
the information that they need to make informed decisions and access the 
services and opportunities available within the borough 
 

2. Building an Inclusive Doncaster 
 
A child friendly borough is thoroughly inclusive and takes steps to ensure that all 
children and young people feel like welcome and active members of their 

Page 51



 
communities with equal access to opportunities and services, particularly 
disadvantaged young people 
 

3. Creating a Happy & Healthy Doncaster 
 
A child friendly borough is one that promotes and facilitates the maintenance of 
good physical and mental wellbeing and ensures that young people are able to 
access services supporting those aims effectively 
 

4. Providing opportunities for participation & engagement 
 
A child friendly borough ensures that children and young people have the 
opportunity to access activities and events across the spectrum of sports, arts and 
community groups regardless of their location 
 

5. Ensuring a Community-Focused Doncaster 
 
A child friendly borough provides as many services as possible within the 
community and empowers these communities and the children and young people 
within them to have an active role in shaping their services and their future. 
Services will also ensure young people are signposted to other activity that may 
be delivered across the borough rather than within the local area.  
 

6. Promoting a strong education & skills system 
 
A child friendly borough ensures that the education children and young people is 
effective and supports their development through into adulthood and employment 
with a focus on skills and aspiration 
 

7. Delivering a Quality of Place in Doncaster 
 
A child friendly borough promotes sustainability, safety and makes sure that 
children and young people can be proud of where they come from. 
 

8. Delivering high quality services 
 
A child friendly borough ensures that all of the supportive services that young 
people may need or wish to access are joined up, tailored to their needs, and 
highly effective  

 
19. Taking into account the need to satisfy our statutory duty and the potential for a more 

rigorous measure in terms of sufficiency, alongside recommendations of the APPG 
and our own local policy drivers, the need for a co-ordinated strategy is clear.   

 
20. In brief, the Doncaster Youth Strategy will: 
 

 Ensure sufficiency of positive activities for children and young people in the 
borough, in line with the Education Act 1996; through robust monitoring of 
activities, number of young people engaged and activity by locality.  

 

 Support the social and personal development of children and young people, 
raising their aspirations, building resilience and enabling them to make informed 
decisions. It will give all children and young people across the borough the 

Page 52



 
opportunity to widen their experiences and have access to a range of diverse and 
innovative activities in the place where they live.  

 

 Ensure that children and young people have a meaningful voice and influence 
regarding the activities and services available to them. We will move towards a 
model of ‘for young people, by young people’.  

 

 Through a partnership approach, reduce the demand for more specialist 
interventions, by facilitating closer working relationships with colleagues in a 
range of other services including Social Care, Youth Offending and CAMHS. This 
could also be through diversionary activities for our more vulnerable young 
people through targeted youth work. 

 

 Through an all age approach, ensure that there are greater opportunities for 
young people to be involved in inter-generational activities, social action and 
social enterprise; reducing the likelihood of social isolation and loneliness.  

 
21. A strong and stable infrastructure is required to ensure we are able to deliver on the 

Youth Strategy, EXPECT Youth are central to this.  

22. Over the last 3 years, EXPECT Youth has increased its reach to children and young 
people across the borough through a co-ordinated approach. Ensuring youth provision 
is delivered in the areas and communities that need it most. It has further strengthened 
community capacity building through supporting existing youth groups and identifying 
new providers. Between August 2017 and August 2018, there were 110,195 
engagements with young people. It is anticipated that the Annual Report 2018- 2019 
will show a further increase. 

23. In addition, over the last 12 - 18 months EXPECT Youth has established both company 
and charitable status and following a review of governance an Independent Chair has 
been appointed alongside the founder members of EXPECT Youth an additional 3 
independent trustees have been appointed.  

 
24. To support the continued partnership between EXPECT Youth and the Council, the 

monitoring arrangements put in place to cover the period the grant was distributed 
(final payment March 2019) have been extended for a further year. This will ensure a 
greater focus a smaller set of shared outcomes, including:  

 

 Monitoring the numbers of children and young people accessing youth provision  

 Delivering a robust training programme for voluntary and community groups.  

 Developing community profiles, detailing demographic and provision information 
to ensure activity is focused in the right areas.  

 
25. To continue with the current commissioning arrangements with EXPECT Youth as the 

facilitator and convenor of universal youth provision, supporting the rationale to 
continue to discharge the Council’s statutory duty to provide access for young people 
to high quality places to go and things to do. This will be further strengthen under the 
Youth Strategy.  

 
26. The principles of the Youth Strategy align to a number of outcomes in the trailblazer 

including but not exclusive to:  
 

 Reduction in referrals into specialist CAMHS 

Page 53



 

 CYP feel more resilient and have better emotional wellbeing and mental health 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
27. To endorse the principles of the Youth Strategy and support continued discharging of 

the Council’s statutory duty to EXPECT Youth.  
 
28. To continue to monitor the outcomes of EXPECT Youth to ensure alignment to the 

overall Youth Strategy.  
 
29. To consider the future commissioning arrangements of EXPECT Youth going forward 

to ensure that adequate resource is available to continue to fund the organisation 
infrastructure in order to deliver on the Youth Strategy.   

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
30. In order to ensure we meet or statutory duty and in addition deliver on the Youth 

Strategy, all of the above options are essential.  
 
31. Through the continued commissioning of EXPECT Youth it enables the council to meet 

its statutory duties at a much reduced cost. In addition, a partnership approach allows 
the development of a much more diverse and responsive offer for our children and 
young people.  

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
32. 

 Outcomes Implications  
 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 

more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives them 
and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 
 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

 Inward Investment 
 

Through the delivery of the revised 
youth offer, young people will have 
access to a wealth of experience 
that will support their aspirations; 
from programmes on essential life 
skills through to opportunities for 
social action and enterprise.  
 
EXPECT Youth will continue to 
seek match funding and corporate 
social responsibility.  
 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a borough 
that is vibrant and full of opportunity, 
where people enjoy spending time; 
 

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean 

The Youth Offer will give young 
people access to a diverse 
range of activities in the area 
they live but also across the 
borough.  
 
All youth providers will be 
expected to deliver on the Child 
Friendly Doncaster 
Participation Standards so will 
aspire to be child-led in their 
provision.  
 
 

 

Page 54



 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage 

 
 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 

learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling; 
 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better 

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work  

 

Doncaster's Youth Strategy will 
complement the outcomes 
delivered in our corporate 
strategies and plans. It will do 
this by, supporting the social 
and personal development of 
children and young people, 
building their resilience and 
raising aspiration.  
 
It will ensure that learning is not 
limited to the classroom but 
through youth activity, social 
action and structured youth 
development programmes.  
 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its most 
vulnerable residents; 
 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals 
have support from someone they 
trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

 

The extension of the current 
funding to EXPECT will ensure 
the delivery of provision, not 
only for young people but also 
to children age 8 years and up.  
Therefore, we can start to 
engage with young people at 
the earliest possible stage. 

 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, whole 
life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance  

 

Partnership working is central to 
the success of both EXPECT 
Youth and the Youth Strategy. 
This expands across voluntary, 
community and faith youth 
providers as well as partnership 
with EXPECT and the council.  
 
The youth offer will be child and 
young person led, in that it will be 
responsive and diverse in its 
approach.  
 
 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
33. Following the decision in 2016 to pump prime EXPECT Youth and deliver our youth 

provision in a different way, to not continue to support the development and 

Page 55



 
sustainability of EXPECT could risk reputational damage to the council as well as 
uncertainty in the delivery of youth provision.  

 
34.   EXPECT Youth secured over £1.5million in match funding through the Social Mobility 

Opportunity Area and this funding is ending shortly. Therefore, the need to ensure 
sustainability is time critical in order to progress the priorities of the Youth Strategy.  

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials……NJD … Date………25/11/2019..] 
 
35. The Education Act 1996 places an obligation on the Council to “so far as reasonably 

practicable, secure for qualifying young persons….access to sufficient education and 
leisure time activities which are for the improvement of their wellbeing.”     

 
36.    The report details the Council’s approach to the delivery of Youth Services. 
 
37. Further Legal advice can be provided to the panel as requested.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [AB 25/11/19.] 

38. Funding of £475k to be paid to EXPECT Youth over 3 years was approved by Cabinet 
on 18th October 2016. The first payment of £250k was paid in March 2017, the second 
instalment of £150k was paid in March 2018, and the final payment of £75k was made 
in June 2019. The funding is regarded as a grant under financial procedure rules and 
a funding agreement was drawn up which includes monitoring arrangements and a 
provision for repayment if the funding is not fully spent. As at August 2019, EXPECT 
Youth have spent £320k of the grant, and projected that a further £12k will be spent by 
March 2020. This will leave a balance of £143k unspent that will be available to be 
used to extend the current arrangements with EXPECT Youth until March 2021. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS JC…… Date 02/07/19 
 
39. At this stage, there are no Human Resources implications; however, specific Human 

Resources advice will be required throughout the project particularly in relation to 
staffing implications  

 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials…PW   Date.11/07/19.] 
 
40. There are no specific technology implications in relation to this report. 
 
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials………CW……..Date …11/07/19…………] 

 
41. Public Health support the principle of ensuring children and young people are 

supported in their social and personal development, building their resilience and raising 
aspiration. These are all features that underpin good physical and emotional health in 
children and young people and set foundations for a positive trajectory into adulthood.  
It is important providers delivering to children and young people understand how they 
can promote and support health and wellbeing through their activities. Policies such as 
healthy eating, active travel, smoking, and safeguarding should all be in place to 
support the health and wellbeing of all who deliver and utilise the provision. Public 
health can provide policy examples and support with guidance on workplace 
standards. Targeting support and tailoring interventions for young people can be 
supported by the Public Lifestyle Survey.  

 

Page 56



 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [Officer Initials…RM…… Date…22/11/19……..] 
 
42. A fundamental principle of the Youth Strategy is that there is equity and equality in the 

youth offer across Doncaster. Therefore the Youth Strategy sets out a number of 
principles, including that the offer is co-produced with children and young people and 
that where needed a tailored offer is available to ensure any barriers to accessing the 
youth offer are reduced.  

 
CONSULTATION 
 
43.  Extensive consultation has also previously been undertaken with young people 

accessing youth services and through the Youth Council to establish views of the 
current youth service and what they would like to see going forward. This has continued 
through work with the Youth Council, Young Advisors and children and young people 
with in communities. Young people will play a central and active role in developing and 
influencing the future youth offer.   

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
44. EXPECT YOUTH (former STRATEGIC YOUTH ALLIANCE) March 2018 
 
GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS 
 

 SEND – Special Education Needs and Disability 

 LGBTQ - Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, And Questioning 

 CAMHS - Child And Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) - NHS 

 APPG – All Party Parliamentary Group  
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Riana Nelson  
Director of Learning Opportunities and Skills 
Learning and Opportunities: Children and Young People 
Email:  riana.nelson@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
Rebecca Mason  
Head of Service, Partnerships and Engagement  
Learning and Opportunities: Children and Young People  
Email: rebecca.mason@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Riana Nelson 
Director of Learning Opportunities and Skills (DCS) 

Page 57

mailto:riana.nelson@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.mason@doncaster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2019/20 
 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

May 

     

     

June 

Wed, 5th June 2019, 1pm 
(AS/CR) 

Mon 17th June 2019 1pm 
(CM) 

Thurs 20th June, 2pm  (CM) 
Tues, 11th June 2019, 10am 

(CM) 
Wed, 5th June 2019, 10am 

(CR) 

 OSMC Workplanning 
 H&ASC O&S 

Workplanning 
 CYP O&S Workplanning  R&H O&S Workplanning  C&E O&S Workplanning 

Thurs, 27th June 2019, 10am 
(AS) 

    

 Youth Justice Plan 

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 4 

 DMBC 

 SLHD 

 Scrutiny Work Plan 

    

July 

Thurs, 11th July 2019, 10am 
(CANCELLED) 

Thurs, 4th July 2019, 10am 
(CR) 

  
Wed, 17th July 2019, 10am 

(CM) 

 

 JSNA State of 
Health/Workplan 

 Your Life Doncaster 
Update (Transformation) 

 The Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 
Inspection and Regulation 
of Adult Social Care. 

 Scrutiny Workplan 
 
 
 

  
 Social Isolation & 

Loneliness Alliance Update  

 Scrutiny Workplan 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 9.



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

Aug 

 
Thursday 8th August 2019 
1.30pm (CR) (joint CYP) 

Thurs 8th August 2019, 
4pm 
(CM) 

 
Monday 19th August 2019 

10.30am (CR) 

 
 
 

 Autism & Learning 
Disability Strategy 
evidence gathering 

 Consultation of the 
Education & Skills 
Strategy 2030 

 Send and Inclusion 
Strategy/Attendance 
Strategy 

 Elective Home Education 
– Overview and Scoping 

 Scrutiny Workplan 

 

 South Yorkshire Fire and 
Rescue Service – 
Integrated Risk 
Management Plan 

 
Thursday 29th August 2019 

3.30pm (joint CYP) 
   

 
 Autism & Learning 

Disability Strategy 
evidence gathering 

   

Sept 

Fri, 6th Sept 2019, 11am 
Thurs 26th Sept 2019, 1pm 

(CR) 
Thurs 5th Sept 2019, 4:30pm 

(CM) 
  

 Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, With 
Devolved Locality 
Budgets (1) - Overview 

 

Starting Well Theme (invite to 
CYP O&S) 
 

 Hidden Harm  

 Childhood Obesity/Tooth 
Decay 

 Scrutiny Workplan 
 

 Early Help Demand  
Management 

 Educational 
Attainment/Schools 
Performance Tables 

 Scrutiny Workplan 

  

Thurs, 12th Sept 2019, 10am 
(AS) 

    

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 1 

 DMBC 

 SLHD 

 DCST 

 Annual Complaints Report  

    

P
age 60



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

 O&S Workplan – Sept 
Update 

Mon 16th Sept 2019 (AS)     

 Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (2) Site 
Visit 

    

Oct 

Thurs, 3rd Oct 2019, 10am 
(CM) 

  
Wed, 16th Oct 2019, 10am 

(CR) 
 

 Medium-term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for 
2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 Scrutiny Workplan 

  

 Delivery of the 
Management of Doncaster 
Markets 

 Scrutiny Work Plan 

 Wed, 16th Oct 2019, to 
follow above meeting 

(CM) 

 Housing Needs Study – 
Panel Briefing meeting 

Thurs, 10th Oct 2019, 10am 
(AS) 

    

 Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (3) Meeting 
with Locality Working Leads 

    

17th October 2019     

•  Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (3) Best 
Practice review - Notts CC. 

    

P
age 61



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

Mon, 21st Oct 2019, 10am 
(CM/AS) 

    

 Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (5)  

    

Mon, 28th Oct 2019,  
(CR/AS) 

    

 Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (6)  

    

Nov 

Thurs, 7th Nov 2019, 10am 
(CR/CM/AS) - Informal 

Thurs, 28th Nov 2019, 10am 
(CM) 

 
Fri 1st November 2019 10am 

(CM) 
Mon 18th Nov 2019 10am (CR) 

• Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets 

Living Well Theme 
 
DRI 

 Strategic issues and 
Challenges  

 Cancer Care waiting 
times;  and 

 Maternity Care – HSR 
 
DMBC  

 Strategic Issues and 
Challenges (Winter 
Planning in Partnership) 

 
Other areas TBC 

 

 Suicide Prevention 
Update 

 
 

 

 Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy (SLHD) 
to include Complex Lives – 
(joint area with C&E O&S) 

 Scrutiny Workplan 

 IMDB – update following 
2018/19 Flood Review – 
item deferred at the 
meeting 

 Social Isolation Alliance 

 Update on Work of Climate 
Change Local Commission 
and Development of the 
Environment Strategy – 
item deferred at the 
meeting 

 Street Scene Rapid 
Improvement Programme 
– item deferred at the 
meeting 

 Scrutiny Workplan 

P
age 62



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

      

Dec 

Mon 16th December 2019,  
1pm (AS) 

 
Thurs 5th Dec 2019, 4:30pm 

(CM) 
 

Thurs 5th Dec 2019, 4:30 (CM) 
Time TBC Briefing Session 

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 2 

o DMBC 
o SLHD 
o DCST 

 

 

 Placement Strategy 

 Youth Services 

 Doncaster Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report (TBC) 

 

  Cycling Strategy 

Jan  

Wed 22nd Jan 2020, 10am 
(CR) 

Thurs, 30th Jan 2020, 1pm 
(CM) 

 
15th January 2020, 10am 

(CR/CM) Briefing Session 
 

 Scrutiny Review - 
Empowered, Engaged 
Communities, with Devolved 
Locality Budgets (TBC) 

Living Well Theme 
 

 Adult Safeguarding Annual 
Report and the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) 
Inspection and Regulation 
of Adult Social Care. 

 Primary Care Networks 
(NHS CCG) and Integrated 
Area Based Working (invite 
to C&E O&S) 

 

 

 Urban Centre Master Plan 
and Major Projects 

 Large centres located 
outside Doncaster - areas 
to be agreed for the Panel 
to consider 

 Transport Infrastructure 
Policy TBC 

 

Wed 22nd Jan 2020 (CR) 
briefing session to follow 

Panel 
  January 2020 - TBC 

 

Adult Social Care Fees and 
Charges Briefing 

  
 Homelessness and Rough 

Sleeping Strategy 
 

Feb 

Thurs, 6th Feb 2020, 10am 
(CR) 

 
Thu, 6th Feb 2019, 10am 

in Rm 210  
 

Wed, 12th Feb 2020, 10am 
(CM) 

 Budget (TBC)  
 Members Briefing (invite 

to OSMC) - Academies 
 

Specific areas from the list 
below to be confirmed: 

P
age 63



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

(overview/ scoping)  

 Update on Safer Doncaster 
Partnership priorities and 
performance 

 Knife Crime 

 Long-term stabilisation of 
people with complex needs 

 Crime in prisons 

 Child criminal exploitation 

 Selective Licensing 
Hexthorpe (TBC) 

21st February, 2020     

Adult Social Care Fees and 
Charges Consultation 

    

Thurs, 27th Feb 2020, 10am 
(AS) 

    

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 3 

o DMBC 
o SLHD 
o DCST 

   
 

Mar 

Thurs, 26th March 2020, 10am 
(CM) 

Wed, 19th March 2020, 1pm 
(CR) 

Thurs 12th March 2020, 
4:30pm (CM) 

Wed 4th March 2020, 10am 
(CR) 

 

 

Ageing Well Theme  

 Frailty – (NHS CCG) 

 Other areas TBC 
 

Other 
 

 Public Health Protection 

 Smoke Free Doncaster 
Action Plan 

 Youth Council – 
Feedback on key issues 

 Children & Young People 
Plan 

 Universal Credit – impact 
on children 

 Education And Skills 
2030 Framework For 
Consultation Update 

 Doncaster Inclusive 
Growth Strategy (with a 
focus on individuals faced 
with a number of barriers 
gaining employment) 

 Update on Business 
Doncaster 

 Update on Markets. 

 

P
age 64



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

Apr 

(Date to be confirmed)  
  

 

 DGT    
 

May 

  
  

 

   
 

 

POSSIBLE ISSUES FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION OR TO BE SCHEDULED 

 

 Consultation Strategy (Role 
of the Voluntary Sector) 

 

 All Age Learning Disability 
and Autism Strategy – 
(DMBC/NHS CCG) – date 
to be confirmed 

 

 Suicide Prevention – 
lessons learnt/support 
provided through 
Education/Schools 
(H&ASC O&S update to 
be provided following 
HASC on 28th 
November.) 

 SY Bus Review – 
Feedback on consultation 
(TBC) 

Meeting to consider the 
following updates: 
 

 Waste; 

 Tree Policy and 5G 
installation; 

 Selective Licensing 
(possible invite to Edington 
Community Groups) 

 

 Overview on Impact of 
Universal Credit – potential 
for further work to be 
considered at Panel level 
e.g. impact on children 
attending at primary level  

 Progress on new initiatives 
being undertaken to 
support people with 
gambling addiction and 
actions taken through 
Gambling and Financial 
Inclusion Group – briefing 
note. 

 Briefing notes – 
Academies 

 Environment Strategy theme – 
to be prioritised 

 What does a Smart City 
look like; 

 Fly tipping update following 
the action week; 

 Rewilding – how do we use 
our green spaces; 

 Sustainability; 

 Climate change 

 

 Overview and Scrutiny – 
review/sharing best practice 

  Engagement with 
Children in Care e.g. 
possible Member visit – 
to also focus discussions 
throughout the year,  for 
example when 

 Deferred from 18th November, 
2019 

 IMDB – update following 
2018/19 Flood Review 

 Update on Work of Climate 
Change Local Commission 

P
age 65



  ** 
Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change 

FP – Forward Plan Decision 
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible 

 
OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S  C&E O&S 

addressing School 
Performance 
Tables/Attainment 

and Development of the 
Environment Strategy 

 Street Scene Rapid 
Improvement Programme  

 

 20mph zones date and 
Panel to be confirmed 
(possible roll over onto 
2020/2021 workplan) 

  Gaps in housing for 
Children in Care between 
17 and 18 ( to be 
discussed when 
Regeneration and 
Housing address the 
Housing Needs Study) 

  Social Isolation Alliance – 
First meeting of the new 
civic year 

 
 Universal Credit Overview – 

first meeting 

  Demand Management – 
Update 2020 (TBC) Mid-
June 20/21 

  

 
   Elective Home Education   

 

   Briefing Session - Suicide 
Prevention – lessons 
learnt/support provided 
through 
Education/Schools 

  

 
   Child Poverty   

 

P
age 66



1

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN FOR THE PERIOD 1ST DECEMBER 2019 TO 31ST MARCH 2020.

The Forward Plan sets out details of all Key Decisions expected to be taken during the next four months by either the Cabinet collectively, The Mayor, 
Deputy Mayor, Portfolio Holders or Officers and is updated and republished each month.

A Key Decision is an executive decision which is likely:-
(a)   to result in the Local Authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the
       Local Authority's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 
(b)   to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or 
       electoral divisions in the area of the Local Authority;
(c)   any decision related to the approval or variation of the Policy and budget Framework that is reserved to the Full Council.

The level of expenditure/savings which this Authority has adopted as being financially significant are (a) in the case of the revenue budget, gross full-year 
effect of  £250,000 or more b) in the case of capital budget, £1,000,000 or more in respect of a single project or otherwise across one financial year.or the 
decision has a significant impact on 2 or more wards.

Please note in addition to the documents identified in the plan, other documents relevant to a decision may be submitted to the Decision Maker. Details of 
any additional documents submitted can be obtained from the Contact Officer listed against each decision identified in this plan.

In respect of exempt items, if you would like to make written representations as to why a report should be considered in public, please send these to the 
contact officer responsible for that particular decision. Unless otherwise stated, representations should be made at least 14 days before the expected date 
of the decision.

KEY
Those items in BOLD are NEW 
Those items in ITALICS have been RESCHEDULED following issue 
of the last plan

Prepared on: 1 November 2019 and superseding all previous Forward Plans with effect from the period identified above.

Damian Allen
Chief Executive

P
age 67



2

MEMBERS OF THE CABINET

Cabinet Member For:

Mayor - Ros Jones
Deputy Mayor - Councillor Glyn Jones

Councillor Nigel Ball
Councillor Joe Blackham
Councillor Rachael Blake
Councillor Nuala Fennelly
Councillor Chris McGuinness
Councillor Bill Mordue
Councillor Jane Nightingale

- Housing and Equalities

- Public Health, Leisure and Culture
- Highways, Street Scene and Trading Services
- Adult Social Care
- Children, Young People and Schools
- Communities, Voluntary Sector and the Environment
- Business, Skills and Economic Development
- Customer and Corporate Resources.

Some Decisions listed in the Forward Plan are to be taken by Full Council

Members of the Full Council are:-

Councillors Nick Allen, Duncan Anderson, Lani-Mae Ball, Nigel Ball, Iris Beech, Joe Blackham, Rachael Blake, Nigel Cannings, Bev Chapman, 
Phil Cole, John Cooke, Mick Cooper, Jane Cox, Steve Cox, Linda Curran, George Derx, Susan Durant, Nuala Fennelly, Neil Gethin, Sean 
Gibbons, John Gilliver, Martin Greenhalgh, Pat Haith, John Healy, Rachel Hodson, Charlie Hogarth, Mark Houlbrook, David Hughes, Eva Hughes, 
Glyn Jones, R. Allan Jones, Ros Jones, Ken Keegan, Majid Khan, Jane Kidd, Nikki McDonald, Tosh McDonald, Chris McGuinness, Sue 
McGuinness, Bill Mordue, John Mounsey, David Nevett, Jane Nightingale, Ian Pearson, Andy Pickering, Cynthia Ransome, Tina Reid, Andrea 
Robinson, Kevin Rodgers, Dave Shaw, Derek Smith, Frank Tyas, Austen White, Sue Wilkinson, Jonathan Wood, Paul Wray.

P
age 68



3

WHEN 
DECISION IS 

EXPECTED TO 
BE TAKEN

KEY DECISION TO BE 
TAKEN

RELEVANT 
CABINET 
MEMBER

DECISION TO 
BE TAKEN BY

CONTACT 
OFFICER(S)

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDERED 
BY DECISION 

MAKER

REASON FOR 
EXEMPTION – LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT 

1972 SCHEDULE 12A

3 Dec 2019 To approve Doncaster's 
Affordable Housing 
Programme 2019-2025

Councillor 
Glyn Jones, 
Deputy 
Mayor, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities.

Cabinet Karen Kellett, 
Programme 
Manager, Strategic 
Housing Team Tel: 
01302 736029 
karen.kellett@donc
aster.gov.uk

Part exempt

11 Dec 2019 To consider and approve 
proposals to introduce an 
Empty Homes Loan Scheme 
in Doncaster and approval 
of the Empty Homes Policy 
Framework, and updates 
made to the Financial 
Assistance Policy.

Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities

Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities

Christine Tolson, 
Head of Asset 
Management  
christine.tolson@st
legerhomes.co.uk

Open

17 Dec 2019 To review the change in 
services for the future 
placement of children and 
young people, including short 
breaks, residential provision 
and offer for young people to 
stay put in a foster care 
placement.

Councillor 
Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

Cabinet Lee Golze, Head of 
Service Business 
Transformation and 
Strategic 
Commssioning  
lee.golze@doncaster
.gov.uk

Open

P
age 69



4

17 Dec 2019 Adoption of the new 'Get 
Doncaster Cycling' Strategy

Councillor 
Nigel Ball, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Public Health, 
Leisure and 
Culture, 
Councillor Bill 
Mordue, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Business, 
Skills and 
Economic 
Development

Cabinet Kerry Perruzza, 
Senior Transport 
PLanner  
Kerry.Perruzza@don
caster.gov.uk

Get Doncaster 
Cycling

Open

17 Dec 2019 Leisure Facility Investment 
Options

Councillor 
Nigel Ball, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Public Health, 
Leisure and 
Culture

Cabinet Andy Maddox, 
Business 
Development 
Manager  
andy.maddox@donc
aster.gov.uk

Strategic 
Leisure Facility 
'Accelerated 
Investment' 
Options 
Appraisal

Open

7 Jan 2020 To decide on the future 
operating model for the 
Aspire (substance misuse 
services) and financial 
envelope for the 2 year 
contract extension

Portfolio 
Holder for 
Public Health, 
Leisure and 
Culture

Portfolio 
Holder for 
Public Health, 
Leisure and 
Culture

Helen Conroy, 
Public Health 
Specialist Tel: 
01302 734571 
Helen.Conroy@don
caster.gov.uk

Open

14 Jan 2020 Approval of Council Tax 
Base for 2020/21

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Cabinet Marian Bolton, 
Head of Revenues 
and Benefits  
marian.bolton@don
caster.gov.uk

Open

P
age 70



5

14 Jan 2020 Big Picture Learning Councillor 
Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

Cabinet Riana Nelson, 
Director Learning, 
Opportunities and 
Skills.  
riana.nelson@donc
aster.gov.uk

Open

11 Feb 2020 Review of the Selective 
Licensing Scheme in 
Hexthorpe

Councillor 
Chris 
McGuinness, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Communities, 
Voluntary 
Sector and the 
Environment, 
Councillor 
Glyn Jones, 
Deputy Mayor, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities.

Cabinet Tracey Harwood, 
Head of Service 
Regulation & 
Enforcement  
tracey.harwood@do
ncaster.gov.uk

Open

11 Feb 2020 Admission arrangements for 
Entrance to Schools for the 
2021/22 Academic Year

Councillor 
Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

Cabinet Neil McAllister, 
School Organisation 
Manager  
neil.mcallister@donc
aster.gov.uk

Open

P
age 71



6

25 Feb 2020 Finance and Performance 
Report and the 'Delivering for 
Doncaster' Booklet - Quarter 3 
2019-20

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Cabinet Faye Tyas, Chief 
Financial Officer and 
Assistant Director of 
Finance  
faye.tyas@doncaster
.gov.uk, Louise 
Parker, Head of 
Service Strategy & 
Performance Unit 
Manager  
Louise.Parker@donc
aster.gov.uk

Open

25 Feb 2020 DCST 2019-20 Quarter 3 
Finance and Performance 
Report

Councillor 
Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

Cabinet James Thomas, 
Director of 
Performance and 
Improvement, DCST,  
James.Thomas@dcs
trust.co.uk, Rob 
Moore, Director of 
Corporate Services 
and Company 
Secretary  
rob.moore@dcstrust.
co.uk

Open

25 Feb 2020 St Leger Homes Performance 
Report 2019/20 - Quarter 3 
(Non-Key Decision)

Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities

Cabinet Julie Crook Tel: 
01302 862705

Open

P
age 72

mailto:Louise.Parker@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.Parker@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:rob.moore@dcstrust.co.uk
mailto:rob.moore@dcstrust.co.uk


7

25 Feb 2020 Adult Social Care Charges. Councillor 
Rachael 
Blake, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Adult Social 
Care

Cabinet Howard Monk  
Howard.Monk@donc
aster.gov.uk, Debbie 
John-Lewis, Interim 
Assistant Director of 
Communities  
debbie.john-
lewis@doncaster.go
v.uk

Open

5 Mar 2020 Approval of the Revenue 
Budget 2020/21.

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Cabinet, 
Council
Decision to 
take to 
Cabinet 11th 
February 2020 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Matthew, Smith, 
Head of Financial 
Management Tel: 
01302-737663 
matthew.smith@do
ncaster.gov.uk

Open

5 Mar 2020 Approval of the Capital 
Strategy, Capital Programme 
and Treasury Management 
Strategy 2020/21 to 2023/24.

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to 
take to 
Cabinet 11th 
February 2020 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Matthew, Smith, 
Head of Financial 
Management Tel: 
01302-737663 
matthew.smith@do
ncaster.gov.uk

Revenue 
Budget 
2019/20 - 
2020/21
MTFS 2020/21 
to 2022/23

Open

5 Mar 2020 Approval of the Housing 
Revenue Account budget 
2020/21

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to 
take to 
Cabinet 11th 
February 2020 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Matthew, Smith, 
Head of Financial 
Management Tel: 
01302-737663 
matthew.smith@do
ncaster.gov.uk

HRA Budget 
2019/20/

Open

P
age 73



8

5 Mar 2020 Approval of the Council Tax 
and Statutory Regulations 
2020/21.

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Cabinet, 
Council
Decision to 
take to 
Cabinet 11th 
February 2020 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Matthew, Smith, 
Head of Financial 
Management Tel: 
01302-737663 
matthew.smith@do
ncaster.gov.uk

Council Tax 
Setting 
Statutory 
Resolutions 
2019/20

Open

P
age 74


	Agenda
	4. Minutes of the meeting of the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel held on 5th September, 2019
	Minutes

	6. Doncaster's Children's Safeguarding Board Annual Report 2018-2019
	To the Chair and Members of the
	Key Decision
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?
	BACKGROUND AND CURRENT POSITION
	DCST DSCP Annual Report 2018-19

	8. Youth Update
	9. Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan and the Council's Forward Plan of Key Decisions
	Forward Plan for the period 1st December 2019 to 31st March 2020. Cabinet


